
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   2/23/2026 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 846 9472 6242 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
  
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers   
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 846 9472 6242 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 846 9472 6242 
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
planning.commission@menlopark.gov* 
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment.  

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.  

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 
 

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
February 23, 2026 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the December 15, 2025 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

E2. Approval of minutes from the January 12, 2026 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

F.  Public Hearing Item 

F1. Use Permit/Angan Das/636 Cambridge Ave.: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing single-story 
single-family residence and construct two new two-story single-family residences, each with an 
attached one-car garage, on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-2 (Low-
Density Apartment) zoning district. The proposal would also include two attached Accessory 
Dwelling Units (ADUs), one for each proposed single-family residence, which is a permitted use 
and not subject to discretionary review. Additionally, there are three heritage trees proposed for 
development-related removal. Determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. (Staff report #26-002-PC) 
 

G. Informational Items 

G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

 
• Regular Meeting: March 9, 2026 
• Regular Meeting: March 23, 2026 

 
H.  Adjournment 
 

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period 
where the public shall have the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public 
interest not listed on the agenda, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either 
before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item. 
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to 
directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and 
applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only 
those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
February 23, 2026 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

correspondence delivered to the City of Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an 
agenda item is a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by 
request by emailing the city clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary 
aids or services in attending or participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office 
at 650-330-6620. 
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the public can 
view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at menlopark.gov/agendas and can 
receive email notifications of agenda postings by subscribing at menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff 
reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 2/18/2026) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   12/15/2025 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 846 9472 6242 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Andrew Ehrich called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Andrew Ehrich (Chair), Ross Silverstein (Vice Chair), Katie Behroozi, Katie Ferrick, Jennifer 
Schindler, Misha Silin 
 
Absent: Linh Dan Do 
 
Staff: Matthew Ball, Assistant Planner; Nira Doherty, City Attorney; Kyle Perata, Assistant 
Community Development Director; Matt Pruter, Associate Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Assistant Community Development Director Perata said the City Council at its December 16, 2025 
meeting would hold a study session to consider and provide policy direction on accessibility for 
public meetings specifically transportation, location, interpretation, and translation services. 
 

D.  Public Comment  
 
 Chair Ehrich opened public comment and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the November 17, 2025 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

 Chair Ehrich opened the item for public comment and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 

 Chair Ehrich requested a change to the minutes on page 4 of the agenda packet to the paragraph 
beginning with the sentence “Responding to the zoning questions, Planner Garcia said staff could 
research…,” and ending with the sentence “that this project might also complicate the CEQA review 
in determining the implications of the project.” He asked for a sentence added after that paragraph: 
“Chair Ehrich expressed appreciation for the ability to conduct this study session early in the project 
timeline, which should provide time to staff and the City to address and plan for these types of 
complexities.” 

 ACTION: Motion and second (Ehrich/Ferrick) to approve the Consent Calendar consisting of the 
minutes from the November 17, 2025 Planning Commission meeting with the following modification; 
passes 5-0 with Commissioner Behroozi abstaining and Commissioner Do absent. 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

• Page 4 of the agenda packet, add sentence at the end of the paragraph beginning with the 
sentence “Responding to the zoning questions, Planner Garcia said staff could research…” and 
ending with the sentence “that this project might also complicate the CEQA review in determining 
the implications of the project.”  
 

o Chair Ehrich expressed appreciation for the ability to conduct this study session early in 
the project timeline, which should provide time to staff and the City to address and plan 
for these types of complexities. 

 
F.  Study Session Item 

F1. Study Session/City of Menlo Park/Accessory Dwelling Unit Ordinance update:  
Study session to receive an overview and provide feedback on proposed amendments to 
accessory dwelling unit regulations (Chapter 16.79 of the Zoning Ordinance, Title 16 of the Menlo 
Park Municipal Code) for consistency with State law and to implement city objective development 
and design standards. The proposed amendments will require additional review and action by the 
Planning Commission and the City Council at future scheduled public meetings, anticipated in 
2026. (Staff report #25-057-PC) 
 
Associate Planner Matt Pruter presented a summary of the staff report. He noted that the 
Accessory Dwelling Unit Ordinance (ADU) was last updated in 2020 and that the ADU ordinance 
needed updating to address conflicts in it with State laws on ADUs passed since 2020. He said the 
Housing Element Update adopted in 2023 for cycle 2023-2031 included Program H4.F, which 
required the City to bring its ADU ordinance into full compliance with State law. He referred to 
Program H2.D requiring ADU amnesty and H7.A for the creation of objective residential standards. 
He said in December 2025, the City received a letter from the State Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD) requesting a formal update on the City’s ADU ordinance, and 
indicating that the City’s ADU ordinance might potentially be inconsistent with State law. He said 
staff had already begun work preparing a draft ADU ordinance and the staff report materials for 
review tonight prior to the receipt of the HCD letter. He said the study session evening was for 
Commission and public feedback on the draft ordinance. He said the draft ordinance for review 
incorporated State law but also offered initial potential for local objective standards. He said staff 
was providing a limited set of initial objective standards that pertained to non-State-mandated 
ADUs.  
 
Mr. Pruter referred to State-mandated ADUs and noted a bullet point mentioning 1,000 square feet 
as the maximum internal ADU size limit. He said staff had just received guidance that there was no 
square foot limit specifically for internal ADUs. He said the four categories of State-mandated 
ADUs that could involve internal or interior ADUs or converted ADUs, where the ADU was 
basically a conversion of existing structures, and that could be an existing accessory building, 
accessory structure, or existing primary residence. He said it was the conversion of existing 
square footage and also applied to Junior ADUs (JADU). He said other categories were single-
family detached ADUs, multi-family converted ADUs, and detached ADUs. He said multi-family 
zoning did not include attached ADUs that involved the addition of square footage alongside an 
existing structure and would not be the conversion of any of the interior space. He said a detached 
ADU’s maximum size was 800 square feet and a JADU’s maximum size was 500 square feet. He 
said a proposal greater than 500 square feet would not be defined as a JADU but would be 
considered an internal ADU, which would have different provisions and expectations. He said 
these categories of ADUs were subject only to ministerial review.  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Planner Pruter said the minimum requirements mandated by the State were four-foot side and rear 
setbacks and a 16-foot to 20-foot maximum height for detached ADUs. He said 16 foot was the 
standard height but given specific varying circumstances the height could go up to 20 feet. He said 
for non-State-mandated ADUs there was potential for a larger detached ADU if the property had 
enough square footage to allow for that and for attached ADUs of any size. He restated that 
attached ADUs were not State-mandated ADUs.  
 
Planner Pruter said potential local objective standards for discussion for internal ADU conversions 
were greater setbacks and lower wall heights, daylight plane and building profile, interior access, 
exterior access and permitted encroachments. He said others included covered porches, exterior 
lighting, timing of ADUs in relation to primary residences, maximum ADU square footage, 
additional JADU requirements, and windowsill heights. He said processing requirements set a 
timeline for ministerial review with 15 business days for application completeness review and 60 
calendar days for approval/denial review and a 15-day appeal period to the Planning Commission 
for either decision. He said State law requirements had now established specific requirements for 
utility connections and fees, sanitary sewer requirements as well as for fire code compliance.  
 
Planner Pruter noted Attachment B was the proposed draft ordinance; he said the changes 
focused on compliance with State law with potentially added flexibility to allow more than the State 
required. He said the Planning Commission’s discussion could provide additional 
recommendations for local objective standards for staff’s evaluation. He said HCD would need to 
review the proposed ordinance to determine there were no compliance issues with State law. He 
said based on those timelines the expectation was the City Council would take action on the 
revised ordinance in the second quarter of 2026.  
 
Commissioner Schindler asked that the slide differentiating between State-mandated ADUs and 
non-State-mandated ADUs be kept onscreen. She noted from staff’s presentation that for internal 
ADUs whether they were inside the primary residence or inside an additional structure there was 
no maximum size. She said the slide said internal ADUs had a size limit of 1,000 square feet but 
that staff had said that was not the case. Planner Pruter said that bullet point was erroneous and 
there were no size limits on internal ADUs. Commissioner Schindler asked if a detached ADU was 
larger than 800 square feet whether it would not be considered State-mandated. City Attorney Nira 
Doherty said that was correct. She said State-mandated ADUs, or more specifically, under Section 
66323 ADUs, detached ADUs qualified for that category if they were less than or equal to 800 
square feet. She said if they were more than 800 square feet, they might still be permitted but not 
under the State-mandated criteria, which suspended all local ADU development standards.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said there were confusing uses in her opinion of the words attached, and 
interior and conversion and whether they were referring to things, elements of the staff report or 
even some of the State language. She asked if there was a conversion of an attached garage to 
an ADU whether that be considered an attached structure. Planner Pruter said that would be seen 
entirely as one primary residence. Commissioner Schindler said she thought the JADU language 
was consistent with that. She asked when something like a second floor was added to a one-story 
garage how that would be considered. Planner Pruter said it would be seen as an attached ADU. 
He said he thought that was irrespective of whether it was a detached garage or a garage 
attached to the primary residence as it would be an attachment to that building. He said they were 
treating existing structures more broadly – accessory buildings, accessory structures, primary 
residences- whatever the building was, if square footage was being added to that building for the 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 4 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

purposes of an ADU, that was considered an attached ADU. Commissioner Schindler said any 
addition was considered an attached ADU even if the structure being expanded was a detached 
ADU.  
 
Assistant Community Development Director Perata said regarding what was being said about an 
attached ADU or a detached ADU it sounded like they were talking about an existing accessory 
building that would be converted to an ADU and asked if that was what was being asked. 
Commissioner Schindler said yes. Mr. Perata said it would be internal conversion and that a 
detached building such as a garage could be an internal conversion to an ADU. 
 
Commissioner Schindler said she thought that any ADU scenario was going to fit into one of those 
two buckets. She said as she read the staff report there were two buckets of laws – the mandatory 
State regulatory clauses for which changes were being proposed to the ordinance and the local 
objective standards. She asked if it was correct that the State regulations applied to both 
categories of ADU. Planner Pruter said certain regulatory mechanisms existed in terms of the four 
foot side and rear setbacks that were the standard for ADUs generally. He said there was permit 
streamlining noting the 15-business day review for completeness. He said there were specific 
differences with the guaranteed ability for ADUs that were considered State-mandated to be 
approved in a more focused and efficient manner with fewer restrictions. He said other ADUs that 
did not meet those requirements could potentially have much more rigorous requirements imposed 
upon them. He said with the two Planning Commission meetings and two City Council meetings on 
this they could determine a variety additional local requirements or fewer restrictions or lessening 
of restrictions for those ADUs that did not fit the definition of the State-mandated ADU under 
Section 66323.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said she understood that the City had the ability to create its own set of 
local objective standards that would apply to the non-State-mandated ADUs. She said some State 
regulations applied only to State-mandated ADUs; some State regulations might also apply to non-
State-mandated ones. She said it might be helpful as they went through element by element to just 
clarify what was State-mandated, what was a local objective standard and whether it applied to 
one or the other, or both types of ADUs.  
 
Commissioner Behroozi said the Planning Commission had seen numerous projects wherein the 
existing structures were demolished and new structures built that seemed to include a JADU. She 
said with complete demolition of existing structures and construction of new structures that  
developer could add up to 800 square feet beyond what one would normally be able to build. She 
said that usually meant the footprint of the house was larger than it would have been otherwise. 
Mr. Pruter said in that scenario it was possible. Commissioner Behroozi said she thought that 
would fall under the State-mandated bucket but if a person with a smaller house decided to build 
an extra 800 square feet attached to it that that would not be ministerially reviewed and approved 
because it was considered an attached ADU. 
 
Planner Pruter said to clarify the scenario was that someone wanted to add an additional 800 
square feet to an existing residence and whether that was considered an attached ADU. 
Commissioner Behroozi said yes but what she was hearing was that would not fall under the 
State-mandated category.  
 
Mr. Perata said all ADUs were ministerially approved unless the proposal deviated from the City’s 
local zoning ordinances. He said a provision in the draft ordinance before the Commission would 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 5 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

allow for a use permit request to modify a development standard that a proposed ADU did not 
comply with, and otherwise State-mandated and non-State-mandated ADUs were how staff had 
looked at ADUs. He said for non-State-mandated ADUs that the City was allowed to apply local 
objective standards to those provided that did not prohibit the creation of an ADU of the 
guaranteed allowance of 800 square feet and other development regulations.  
 
Commissioner Behroozi asked if at present the setback standards applied to JADUs. Planner 
Pruter said they did not apply to JADUs. Commissioner Behroozi said if the current system  
incentivized people to tear down a building and build an entirely new one or if somehow people  
were penalized for adding 800 square feet to an existing building instead of demolishing and  
rebuilding then she wanted to understand what the current scenario was.  
 
Mr. Perata said he thought they might be moving more into discussion topics than clarifying 
questions.  
 
Commissioner Behroozi said she wanted to know if her understanding was correct that if she were 
building a house with a JADU attached to it that meant it could be closer to her neighbor’s fence 
than if she were building a house without an ADU. 
 
Ms. Doherty said that it was not correct and that someone would not get more square footage or a 
more lenient ADU because it was proposed with a new primary dwelling unit as opposed to with an 
existing primary dwelling unit.  

 
Chair Ehrich said that sounded like a change noting the Commission had seen numerous ADUs 
attached to new house that shared a wall and in all of those reports it said this project contained 
an ADU that was not a discretionary approval and should be ministerially approved. He said he 
thought of those as attached ADUs as they shared a wall with the primary residence. He asked if 
that was a change to City law.  

 
Ms. Doherty said what the Chair just summarized was current State law and although the City’s 
current ordinance had certain inconsistencies with State law that City just applied State law. She 
said that this would not be a deviation from current practice as that was what was in State law 
now. 

 
Chair Ehrich said in the draft ordinance, Attachment B, Section 16.79.070, under “Units subject to 
limited standards” that this laid out which developments the City had to ministerially approve. He 
said in that section were internal ADUs and JADUs and detached ADUs. He said he did not see 
single-family attached ADUs. He said if the ordinance was adopted and a project came before 
them with a new home project and an attached ADU then that ADU would be a non-Section 66323 
ADU and not a Section 66323 ADU. 

  
Mr. Perata said in that scenario that was an internal ADU. He said it might seem like an attached 
ADU, but it was not in addition to an existing structure or existing primary dwelling. He said in 
those cases those were internal ADUs and were State-mandated ADUs.  

 
Chair Ehrich said the draft ordinance said that it might include an expansion of not more than 150 
square feet beyond the same physical dimensions as the existing accessory building or structure.  

 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 6 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Mr. Perata referred to the full clause of the draft ordinance that it was an ADU within a proposed 
space of an existing single-family dwelling or accessory building or accessory structure and that 
might include an expansion that was allowed per State law for ingress and egress associated with 
an internal ADU conversion or a JADU conversion and that was for an existing primary dwelling. 
He said that would not apply to a proposed new development because with a new single-family 
home with an internal ADU an expansion of 150 square feet would not apply as the structure was  
not yet existing. 

 
Chair Ehrich said many of what were being classified as internal ADUs coming before the 
Commission with a new home proposal allowed up to an additional 800 square feet.  

 
Ms. Doherty said the 150 square foot expansion was required by State law to allow for ingress and 
egress to an internal conversion ADU. She said that provision was added to the State laws a 
couple of years ago to accommodate external stairwells and covered pathways that some cities 
considered to be part of the internal ADU, but it was not an attachment for living space.  

 
Commissioner Schindler said she believed the question was what happened to allowable square 
footage. She said she would like to know more about the answer to that question as it related to 
the parts of the staff report that talked about the ADU square footage and the parts of the staff 
report that talked about the guaranteed allowances and essentially about floor area coverage.  

 
Chair Ehrich said he was interested in a situation where the building coverage allowance based on 
the lot size was 3,000 square feet and applicants come to the Commission with a 3,800 square 
foot proposal. He said the guidance to them had been up until now was that the applicants were 
allowed an extra 800 square feet for the ADU. He said in the draft ordinance he did not see where 
those 800 square feet was allowed as a State-mandated ADU.  

 
Commissioner Silverstein said an attached ADU had a minimum 25-foot height limit per State law. 
He asked if an ADU above a detached garage would get that height limit by right since it would be 
considered an attached ADU. Planner Pruter said that was technically true. Commissioner 
Silverstein said an ADU not above said detached garage would not be allowed to get that same 
height limit. Planner Pruter said assuming the ADU was not detached in itself. He said for 
example, a detached one-story garage that was converted into an ADU would not get the 25-foot 
height allowance. Commissioner Silverstein said he was thinking of either a converted garage or 
an entirely independent ADU structure. Planner Pruter said neither of those two would be allowed 
the 25-foot height. Commissioner Silverstein asked if the attachment from the ADU to said garage 
had to be a vertical attachment so that the ADU was only over the garage or could it be a 
horizontal attachment so that it was to the side of the garage and with the 25-foot height allowance 
be two stories. Planner Pruter said they would need to look into that further and would follow up 
with a response.  

 
Mr. Perata said as this was a study session that staff might not have all the answers so questions 
like these were appreciated but they were not prepared to have a hypothetical discussion as that 
tended to potentially result in incorrect or misstated information. He said for such questions they 
would take the feedback, then evaluate and determine how to address it. He said they would 
explain how they addressed it and if it was something that could not be addressed then they would 
explain why in the ADU ordinance when it was brought back for recommendation to Council.  

 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 7 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Commissioner Silverstein said he appreciated that context. He said some of the thought process 
might influence their discussion when they were trying to figure out which way to go or take things. 
He said his next question was whether for non-State-mandated ADUs there were maximum 
bounds that should limit their discussion now, for example square footage or any other limits. 
Planner Pruter said not necessarily as they were happy to take the feedback and evaluate to 
follow up. He said if follow up questions came up after the meeting, Commissioners could let staff 
know.  

 
Chair Ehrich said he had a similar question and noted page 5 of the report and page 13 of the 
agenda packet in Table 1 that described ADU changes to development standards per State law. 
He referred to the text above that table, which said that these minimum requirements must be 
applied to all ADUs, and text there that said the maximum size of a one-bedroom ADU shall be no 
greater than 850 square feet. He said in another place it said an internal ADU could be no more 
than 1,000 square feet of interior livable space. He said a potential reading of that table was that 
there was a limit to non-State-mandated ADUs. He said he wanted to clarify that there was no limit 
to non-State-mandated ADUs per State law.  

 
Mr. Pruter said there were a lot of details in the referenced table, but the table alone was not 
exactly the same thing as all the requirements for State-mandated ADUs. He said there were other 
items there that as they went through them in more detail in the discussion they could clarify 
further. He said there were some items in the table where you might potentially allow more 
flexibility. He said some bedroom requirements were a limit set by the State but in theory they 
could have something more flexible or permissible. He said that could also be the case with amore 
straight forward requirement such as side setback and it could be less than four feet potentially.  

 
Chair Ehrich quoted from the State ADU handbook, under the FAQ section: Can maximum unit 
sizes exceed 1,200 square feet for ADUs? Answer: State ADU law does not limit the authority of 
local agencies to adopt less restrictive requirements for the creation of ADUs. 

 
Commissioner Silverstein said he understood that California AB1033 passed in 2023 gave cities 
opportunities to allow homeowners to sell their ADUs as condominiums. He asked if there was a 
reason why that was not included as part of this study session. 

 
Planner Pruter said staff could look into further and noted it would potentially have a broader 
impact on Title 15, the subdivision ordinance as well as Title 16, the zoning ordinance. He said 
there was no strategic reason, it was not included but it was something that could be considered.  

 
Commissioner Ferrick referred to the note that there was no maximum size limit on an internal 
ADU and asked if it needed to be smaller than the main house or was there a ratio used of house 
to ADU size. She asked if it could be an exponentially large ADU with a very small main house.  

 
Ms. Doherty said the State laws did not reserve to city discretion the ability to impose a maximum 
size limit on Section 66323 for internal conversion ADUs. She said the practical effect was that a 
single-family dwelling unit could be divided into two ADUs of the same size and the ADU could 
become larger than what was previously considered the primary dwelling living portion of the 
primary dwelling unit. She said under the California Building Code there were limits on the 
minimum size for primary dwelling units so the primary dwelling unit would have to be larger than 
that minimum size. Replying to Commissioner Ferrick, Ms. Doherty said efficiency units were 150 
square feet so no dwelling unit in California could be smaller than 150 square feet, but she did not 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 8 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

know about the larger primary dwelling unit or what the features were for larger primary dwelling 
units that were not considered efficiency units.  

 
Commissioner Ferrick said the term internal ADU only applied to conversions of existing homes 
and not new ADUs that were integrated into a new complete development. Ms. Doherty said it 
applied to both under the State laws. She said State laws allowed internal conversion ADUs for 
converting space in an existing or proposed primary dwelling unit but the practical effect on sizing 
was the size as an applicant would not get to expand the size of the primary dwelling unit beyond 
sizes that were otherwise allowed in Menlo Park’s municipal code to accommodate an internal 
conversion ADU. She said the applicant would get the primary dwelling unit and then a portion of 
that could be converted into an internal conversion ADU. She said State laws did not reserve to 
cities the ability to impose a maximum size on those internal conversion ADUs. 

 
Commissioner Ferrick said for a new development that an applicant could propose an unlimited 
size ADU. Ms. Doherty said no as they were limited by the size of the primary dwelling unit for 
internal conversion ADUs. She said they could propose a primary dwelling unit plus an attached 
ADU or a primary dwelling unit plus a detached ADU. She said if they proposed a primary dwelling 
unit plus an internal conversion ADU then they were limited by the size of the primary dwelling  
unit for the primary dwelling unit and a portion of that primary dwelling unit became the internal 
ADU.  

 
Commissioner Ferrick said they would not get any additional footprint of square footage. Ms. 
Doherty confirmed that statement. She said internal conversion ADUs never added square footage 
to the primary dwelling unit or rather to the lot. Commissioner Ferrick asked what the correct term 
was for the developments the Commission had seen where there was added square footage. Ms. 
Doherty said those were attached ADUs. 

 
Chair Ehrich said he wanted to clarify that staff’s intent was focused on bringing the City’s 
ordinance into compliance with State law. He said staff was not saying this was the draft of the 
final recommendation for what ADU law should be in Menlo Park. He asked if it was correct that 
this was a draft focused on what it would look like to bring the City’s ADU ordinance into 
compliance with State law. Planner Pruter said that was correct.  

 
Commissioner Silin said in Table 1, under parking, that one parking space was required per unit 
unless a parking exception applied. He said below that was mentioned State law restricted the City 
from applying any parking standards to State-mandated ADUs. He asked if the City was allowed to 
require a parking space per unit or which ADUs that would apply to. Planner Pruter said his 
understanding was the State-mandated ADUs did not have a specific parking requirement now. He 
said the parking requirement consideration was for non-State-mandated ADUs, the larger attached 
ADUs and other types as those were subject to parking requirements but there were additional 
exemption details to factor in. He said the one involving the parking permitting was he thought 
critical for the City to consider as it was more impactful given the overnight parking restrictions 
throughout much of the City. Replying to Commissioner Silin, Planner Pruter said the City had 
existing exemptions plus an added one with State law since 2020 that was different from the City’s 
existing ordinance. He said the one that was different here was that when a parking permit of 
some kind was required such as an overnight parking permit in residentially zoned districts and 
could not be granted then that parking could be exempted. He said it was their understanding that 
the parking permitting that was required was somewhat limited for a large portion of the City in 
mostly residential areas noting Belle Haven, West Menlo, and Allied Arts neighborhoods.  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 9 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Commissioner Silin said then in the areas with overnight parking limitations and the need for an 
overnight parking permit that if that could not be given then they could not require an ADU to add a 
parking space even if it was non-State-mandated. Mr. Perata said he thought so and it was an 
opportunity to clarify as it only applied to ADUs in multi-family zoning districts as single-family 
zones were not eligible for overnight parking permits. He said to clarify that they were really talking 
only about multifamily zoned parcels where that clause that exempts the parking requirement 
would apply.  

 
Commissioner Silin asked for a single-family home if it was a non-State-mandated ADU whether 
the City would require parking to be added. Mr. Perata said yes, one space as mentioned in the 
staff report and that was the State law maximum they could apply, noting that they could not be 
more restrictive than State law even for non-State-mandated ADUs.  

 
Chair Ehrich opened public comment. 

 
Public Comment: 

 
• Sergio Ramirez, General Manager, West Bay Sanitary District, said the District recently 

learned that 400 ADUs approved by the City of Menlo Park were done without the benefit of 
the District’s review for sanitary sewer service and impact to the community’s sewer system. 
He said they were working with City staff to rectify. He asked how the ordinance would address 
the need to have ADUs evaluated for sanitary sewer service. He said he understood that there 
was a need to move ADUs and the process along to meet State mandate requirements but 
there were local requirements to evaluate the sewer system and ensure ADUs would not be 
placed over sanitary sewer easements generally located six feet from the back or side of the 
property line. He said four foot side and rear setbacks were a direct conflict of most sanitary 
sewer easements. He said when a dwelling, especially a detached dwelling, was allowed to 
share in the sewer service lateral and then the ADU is sold either as a separate parcel or to a 
separate owner that created a direct conflict with two separate owners sharing sewer service. 
He said when there was an issue with that service it was not easily dealt with as they had 
encountered in the past. He said also not being able to collect sewer service charges on an 
annual basis per dwelling or per ADU was an issue. He said the sewer service charge annually 
was $1,440 and those fees were for the maintenance and upgrading of the sewer system and 
upgrading of the local wastewater treatment plant and to treat the wastewater.  

 
Chair Ehrich closed public comment. 

 
Commissioner Silverstein said it seemed like State-mandated ADU requirements had a different 
threshold for existing multifamily dwellings that allowed for up to eight detached ADUs and 
proposed multi-family dwellings that only allowed up to two detached ADUs. He asked if he 
understood that correctly and if staff knew the reasons why the State would differentiate between 
existing and proposed multifamily dwellings.  

 
Planner Pruter said staff believed he was correct, but they would need to look into the reasoning 
behind that in more detail. 
 
Commissioner Silverstein said it was his understanding that as part of their discussion they would 
not be able to limit the number of detached ADUs on an existing multifamily dwelling below eight 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 10 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

nor limit the number of ADUs on a proposed multifamily dwelling below two, but they would be 
able to raise either of those numbers if wanted.  

 
Planner Pruter asked if he was talking about a more permissive approach that would allow 
additional units if the City wanted. Commissioner Silverstein said yes and asked if the City wanted 
to not differentiate between existing and proposed and allow eight ADUs in either whether they 
would they be able to do that. Planner Pruter said that was something that they could look at.  

 
Commissioner Behroozi asked about an all-weather direct pathway. Planner Pruter said it was 
based on Public Works’ guidance requirements. He said the main thing with all weather was that it 
was concrete and any paver materials other than that would be reviewed for sufficiency. He said 
accessibility was another component so that it had the appropriate width. He said another item 
considered was that the pathway continued to the public right of way. 

 
Commissioner Schindler said she would strike the word “direct” from that phrase as it was not an 
objective thing and questioned how that could be defined. She said she could think of various 
scenarios of what the path from an ADU to the sidewalks might be. She said it was easier to define 
all-weather than to define direct.  

 
Commissioner Behroozi said she supported getting into compliance with State law but was 
uncomfortable doing things beyond that without some additional framing conversations that were 
beyond the scope of the staff report. She said they did not have enough of the big picture to do 
that. She said questions she had that she was not expecting staff to answer tonight included how 
many of the ADUs that the City had permitted in the last few years were occupied. She said they 
were counted in the reports to HCD as this many very low income, this many low income, this 
many moderate income but she did know if any of those were actually rented. She asked how their 
policy was working and not just checking a box but in making a good faith effort to meet their 
housing goals. She said she was uncomfortable making determinations about parking restrictions 
or even about internal access doors when she did not understand more about the big picture of the 
way ADUs were being produced and used and what some of the hindrances were. She said it felt 
a bit premature.  

 
Commissioner Schindler said she thought Commissioner Behroozi brought up an important point 
regarding framing and context. She said she was not thinking about it exactly the same way in 
looking backward on historical analysis but thought about what the criteria was for determining 
whether each of the things in the staff report were going in the right direction. She said she was 
looking for two main categories of things and some smaller things. She said one of the main ones 
was the regulations working toward creating more housing units for the City, units that were 
independent and desirable. She said independent was not part of the same primary house. She 
said her second main category was about less operational work for City staff, which for her had 
two components: less work on a per-project basis and making it easier to review and approve a 
given project and through a longer-term angle meaning that fewer City resources would be 
required to rework these regulations in two to five years as State law or trends changed. She said 
other things mentioned in the staff report for consideration were things for the benefit of neighbors, 
which she thought were important criteria she valued but were not the big ones she started with. 
She said she would appreciate more context about how this fitted into the other part of the 
Housing Element Program H4F as the report talked about some things in that program. She said 
the description of Program H4F talked about being in compliance with the HCD letter. She said the 
report talked about increased parking flexibility and streamlined approvals. She said the program 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 11 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

description in the Housing Element talked about the City’s role in providing guidance and even 
marketing, presumably promoting ADUs and she did not see that here. She questioned where that 
fell in the timeline discussed as the City had six months to respond to HCD. She said another thing 
in the program description in the Housing Element was about having preapproved ADU designs. 
She said the staff report  talked about that, but the body of ordinances did not address that yet. 
She said it sounded like a separate work stream so that was not in this draft ordinance. She said 
the last thing in the program description in the Housing Element was to potentially collect 
information about projected ADU rents and she did not see that in any of the mentions of the 
ordinances or in the staff report. She said when this was brought back for discussion again, she 
wanted to know, not the detailed version, but how each of those components of H4F were 
addressed and more importantly how HCD would see this work as addressing H4F. She said the 
idea where they showed HCD a draft and waited six months for their feedback and then did the 
Planning Commission and City Council review and action seemed a more logical option than 
completing the ordinance, giving to HCD, and taking changes as an amendment which was 
discussed in the staff report.  

 
Chair Ehrich asked if the draft ordinance went into effect how they would treat new construction 
units. He said for example a new house was proposed to build with a floor area of 2,500 square 
feet based on the lot size. He said his understanding was that if they brought the project forward to 
the Planning Commission that they could have a 2,500 square foot main residence and an 800 
square foot attached ADU as defined by the City Attorney. He said his understanding was they 
would have to ministerially approve the extra 800 square feet based on State law. He asked if he 
was correct and where that was found in the draft ordinance. 

 
Planner Pruter said he was correct. He said a section titled “Guaranteed Allowance” mentioned 
that a guarantee of an 800 square foot ADU must be provided. He said the City was using 
guaranteed allowance and other jurisdictions phrased it differently such as exceedance and 
exemption.  

  
Chair Ehrich said he did not know if that was a State-mandated ADU, but it was being treated as 
such as it needed to be ministerially approved and was not subject to a conditional use permit or 
anything.  

 
Mr. Perata said whether it was a State-mandated ADU under government code 66323 or non-
State-mandated ADUs, those were ministerially permitted. He said everything was a permitted 
process whether it was a State- or non-State-mandated ADU. He said discretion applied and this 
was carried over from the current ordinance to this draft that if the proposal deviated from the 
standards a use permit could be sought from the Planning Commission. He said for an example 
that the minimum four-foot required setback could be requested to be reduced to three feet 
through Planning Commission review. He said that was where the conditional use permit section 
of the draft ordinance would come into play. He said all ADUs went through a ministerial permitting 
process whether it was a State or non-State-mandated ADU. 

 
Commissioner Schindler referred to “guaranteed allowance” in the table that talked about “not 
prohibiting an ADU with at least 800 square feet of floor area.” She said she read that as being 
larger than 800 square feet. She said she might be reading it incorrectly, it might be phrased 
incorrectly, or it might mean the guaranteed allowance only applied to ADUs that were bigger than 
800 square feet, meaning that the developer would not get the additional square feet if it was less 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 12 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

than 800 square feet and therefore State-mandated. She said the last was her assumption and 
would like it clarified.  

 
Planner Pruter said there might be a little confusion with how the table was framed. He said the 
idea there was that the guaranteed ADU size was up to 800 square feet and something greater 
than that was not guaranteed. He said there could be a larger number if the Commission wanted 
that, but the language was intended to read that up to 800 square feet for an ADU was guaranteed 
on every lot. 

 
Commissioner Schindler said she had founded a number of conclusions based on her incorrect 
interpretation and was disappointed as she had hoped that it was something that was being 
changed.  

 
Commissioner Silin said the guaranteed allowance was 800 square feet and asked if a 900 square 
foot ADU was proposed if that would require a use permit. He asked if the use permit review would 
only consider the additional square footage and everything else would still be objective standards 
or would that open the entire ADU proposal to Planning Commission conditional approval. 

 
Planner Pruter said as it was currently proposed there was availability for that 100 square feet 
beyond the guaranteed allowance. He said if there was a lot where there was 100 square feet of 
additional floor area to spare then it was possible to have a 900 square foot ADU. He said then the 
question was whether the other State standards would apply, and if they would then the objective 
standards would apply. He said in that situation it would not require discretionary review, and a 
use permit would not be needed if the square footage was there. He said he believed there was an 
option here with the Commission’s review of the draft ordinance to consider other square footage 
allowances possibly greater in size. 

 
Commissioner Silin said he was referring more to a scenario where there was not an extra 100 
square feet or other situations where someone might fall under the category where they would 
need to apply for a use permit for an ADU. He asked if that use permit application limited the 
discretion of the Planning Commission on elements or would the whole ADU proposal be 
considered discretionally.  

 
Mr. Perata said that was a good question. He said the floor area limit for a single-family zoned 
property was not subject to the use permit as that was a cap set by the General Plan and by the 
zoning. He said in that instance the ADU could not exceed that cap. He said the guaranteed 
allowance to go above and beyond the floor area limit was State law. He said that cities had to 
allow for and not create a situation where an ADU could not be a minimum 800 square foot size. 
He noted Commissioner Schindler’s clarification question about the 800 square feet in the table 
and said they would look at clarifying the text based on the Commission’s guidance. He said the 
State was saying cities needed to allow and permit an 800 square foot ADU regardless of their 
maximums and that was where the guaranteed allowance came in but that was a hard cap of floor 
area limit or floor area ratio, depending on the zone, plus the 800 square feet. He said it was 
livable space and not necessarily explicit to the City’s floor area limit definition.  

 
Commissioner Silin asked for a couple of examples where someone might need a use permit for 
an ADU and asked for those if the whole ADU became discretionary or just the part that required 
the use permit. 

 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 13 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Mr. Perata said the entire ADU would become discretionary if there was a request for modification 
to a standard, for example to setbacks. He said State law and local ordnance applied a four foot 
minimum setback for detached or attached ADUs. He said if an applicant wanted a reduced 
setback the entire unit would got through discretionary review for approval. He said in that instance 
the City could only apply objective standards so he did not believe they could necessarily regulate 
the design and materials of the use permit. He said they would be looking at the City’s objective 
standards and the request before the Commission. He said they could not apply additional 
discretion that was not an objective standard.  

 
Commissioner Silin said in that instance the Planning Commission would not have anything to 
discuss as staff would go through the objective standards to see if they were met or not. Mr. 
Perata said hypotheticals were difficult to answer in this evening’s forum but yes and no, he 
thought it would depend. He said if the request was for reduced setbacks the Commission would 
look at the effects of that reduced setback. He said maybe there might be ameliorating factors 
such as height reduction that could come through that. He said discretionary consideration of 
objective standards was where they started to run afoul of State law but there could be other 
factors to consider with a reduced setback. 

 
Commissioner Silin said the main focus for him was adding housing, noting similar City and State 
objectives. He said he looked at the draft ordinance as to whether the changes for non-State-
mandated ADUs were making it more flexible or adding more restrictions for applicants. He said 
an example restriction would be like limiting the size of the landing for stairs and an example of 
being more permissive would be removing a parking requirement. He said he was definitely 
interested in streamlining the process for applicants. He said in 2022 he applied to do an attached 
ADU on his property and the final permit was issued at the beginning of 2025, and he thought he 
had some experiences doing that which could potentially have been streamlined. He said he 
thought marketing and helping residents understand the regulations for ADUs were necessary, 
and to give examples as much as possible. He said the City of San Jose did a good job with that. 
He said he thought they could provide 3D visuals explaining elements and just helping residents 
through the application process. He noted the public speaker from West Bay Sanitary District and 
as a first-time homeowner he had not been aware he needed a separate permit from a separate 
agency until much later in his process. He said it was not necessarily the City’s job to figure all that 
out, but it would certainly be helpful as the City was where a person would go first when they were 
considering making a change to their home. He said he thought it was important for them to think 
about having these ADUs potentially be separate dwelling units. He said many of the applications 
they saw were large homes with very expensive land acquisition and construction costs. He said 
he had trouble seeing the ADUs coming to the City as part of new construction being rented out. 
He said potentially they were being used for in-laws, but talking to people on the street there was 
definitely concern that sometimes these units were being used as a pool house or type of 
workspace. He said he did not know to what extent they could limit that but 10 or 20 years from 
now when things changed to at least have the potential for that dwelling unit to easily be a rental 
was important. He said things like separate access were important to him and not for the unit to 
just be additional square footage for the house and if later it was to be a separate dwelling unit for 
a separate occupant that would require a whole host of changes to be made, which he thought 
would be unfortunate. He said he shared Commissioner Behroozi’s reluctance to impose either 
restrictions or flexibility outside of the State requirements. He said he wanted to hear more from 
the State and noted he sent this in an email to staff to hear more about the justification for things 
and what they were trying to accomplish. He said maybe an example of an application where the 
homeowner ran into an issue or issues and the intent was to make that easier, or if a homeowner 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 14 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

built a stair landing that turned into a balcony and a neighbor was upset. He said hearing about 
such stories would help them think through these things.  

 
Commissioner Ferrick said she agreed with Commissioner Behroozi’s overall statement that right 
now bringing the ordinance into compliance with State law made the most sense. She said without 
data to understand what was happening with respect to ADUs in Menlo Park, she found it difficult 
to weigh in on what were the smart changes to make, She said with data they would know how 
commonly ADUs were being rented and used by people outside of the main house, what elements 
were successful, how large the ADUs were, and what made an ADU rentable. She asked if there 
were common requests that could meet applicants’ housing demand that could create the ADU 
ordinance and would not result in just being workarounds that were clearly extra square footage 
for the main occupants of the house. She said she agreed the ordinance needed to address the 
new State legislation to adopt whatever the criteria was for some units becoming for sale eligible, 
which she thought should be considered as part of bringing the local ordinance into compliance 
with State law. She said if there were several hundred ADUs in the community she thought there 
would be data to gain through anonymous surveys or just understanding the inventory of what had 
been built and what the City knew about as far as mailing information.  

 
Commissioner Silverstein referred to comments that the primary priority was just compliance with 
State law, and noted the staff report said that local ADU ordinances were optional and if a 
jurisdiction did not have a local ordinance, then State law applied. He said if all the City wanted to 
do as part of this process was to be in compliance with State law, then they could just rescind or 
remove the current ordinance and spend time doing other things. He said his preference was to 
spend the time now while they had the opportunity to actually address some of the things, 
although he appreciated the more information, the better, and they were potentially speaking from 
a point of naivete.  

 
Commissioner Schindler said she heard the sentiment of compliance with State law being the 
primary focus of Commissioners, and it was prominent in the staff report. She said she wanted to 
highlight the other purpose of having a public ordinance, which had been alluded to, and that it 
was a place people could go to get the information. She said she felt strongly that they have Menlo 
Park headed ordinances framed in way that made sense to Menlo Park residents in the context of  
broader zoning laws. She said it needed to be a chapter in the zoning laws where people went to 
find the section on ADU. She said it was potentially that the content exclusively reflected State law, 
but she did not think it was the right option, nor was that what was proposed in the staff report. 
She said she would rather they err on the side of making the ordinance document as close to 
marketing material, promotions, and explanatory stuff as they could as it simplified it for 
consumption.  

 
Commissioner Silin suggested that for changes such as limiting a stair landing that the City kept a 
record of what the basis was for such limiting factors for future understanding. He said having 
more information, more examples would be helpful to think through those things. He said in terms 
of the ordinance that they could still educate the public on what the State requirements were 
without putting those into a City ordinance, particularly since the rules kept changing every year. 
He said it might be better to put less things in the local ordinance to avoid the situation where it 
had to be updated often as rules changed. He asked how it happened that the current ordinance 
did not match the State laws, He said he wanted to know what happened in 2020 and what the 
justifications were at that time for some of the things they had in this ordinance to help them 
understand the mindset then and what it should be moving forward. 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 15 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Planner Pruter said in 2020 there were some comprehensive updates that the State provided that 
established a number of Statewide ADU requirements. He said prior to 2020 he did not think there 
were a lot of rigid requirements in place and had been more subject to different jurisdictional 
expectations and he thought the State had had less regulatory mechanisms in place. He said 
following 2020 a series of more housing driven initiatives occurred in concert with SB330 and other 
State-led housing initiatives based on the State housing affordability crisis and all the other issues 
occurring in this decade. He said that resulted over the last five years in a series of major 
assembly and senate bills that translated into ensuring there were more opportunities for ADUs to 
be built and that jurisdictions had less of a say in preventing ADUs in their jurisdictions. He said 
also it was having all jurisdictions have the same set of rules for guaranteeing some form of ADU 
housing and getting a broader ability to do that Statewide.  

 
Commissioner Silin said he understood that the HCD’s letter was not saying that they needed to 
go and add all of these new requirements to the City’s ordinance because if it was not in the 
ordinance then the State law applied by default. He said his understanding was HCD was saying 
the City had things that were in conflict with State rules in the local ordinance that needed 
updating. He asked if the things in conflict were things that previous Planning Commission wanted 
to restrict and now, they could not or were they just things in the ordinance from previous State 
laws that have since then changed.  

 
Planner Pruter said it was a mixed response and nuanced. He said the main thing was that ADUs 
had evolved in terms of definitions and types there were different varieties of ADUs and what 
constituted ADUs in today’s 2025 sense versus 2020. He said that was one factor that created 
some issues with how they were defining ADUs in the existing ordinance. He said there was some 
conflict with the development standards that they had applied, and there were use permit triggers 
and other things that set up a sort of discretionary implication which should not be there anymore. 
He said it was hard for him to give a very detailed answer but in short, he thought that they had 
some more restrictive qualities and some of those were preventing the guaranteed allowance. He 
said he thought  they had a few circumstances in the ordinance where it was not clear that an 800 
square foot ADU could happen on a certain property based on the zoning and size of the lot. He 
said that by default was the law and that was what had to happen moving forward. He said also 
they needed to update the ordinances to change the language to ensure they were carving out 
these kinds of pockets of opportunities for these different types of properties whether multifamily or 
single family for the varied types of ADUs.  
 
Commissioner Silin said he thought that clarified it. He said his comment would be that as a 
Planning Commission they should think about what things they would want to add on top of what 
the State was saying. He said he had seen where a city might restrict something that then a year 
later the State said it could not. He said he did not think a lot of the things on staff’s list right now 
were like that. He said he did not imagine lighting being a certain way would be something that got 
overridden but they should be thoughtful about what they wanted to choose to restrict moving 
forward but keeping in mind potential and what things residents had brought up in the past that 
they should consider in that regard.  
 
Chair Ehrich recessed the meeting at 9:00 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 9:10 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Silverstein said his general thoughts on ADUs were centered on two themes: 
simplicity and permissibility. He said on simplicity that the California minimums were nuanced but 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 16 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

he did not think they needed to deal with that nuance. He said there were a number of 
circumstances where they had different standards applied - for example attached versus detached 
ADUs or .5-mile to transit versus not, or existing dwellings versus proposed dwellings. He said he 
felt that it all led to more confusion and seemingly arbitrary nature of the zoning code leading to 
people questioning why something was that way or why were they differentiating with those. He 
said they could go into redlining the specifics if they wanted to or when they were ready to get 
there. He said his general preference was to not carve out those differences and just to allow for 
the more permissible ADU across the board. He said, for example, State law said by right an 
applicant could have a 16-foot tall ADU unless it was close to transit and then an 18-foot height 
limit applied. He said that the City did not need to apply a distinction and should just allow the 18-
foot height. He said if they had various carve outs based on those differences, he thought it would 
water down the product and make it more confusing. He said on permissibility the reason they 
would have a zoning ordinance around ADUs was for the purpose of  allowing more ADUs than 
the State minimum. He said by definition the State minimum was the minimum and he did not see 
the point of having this discussion if they were not going above that minimum. He said they wanted 
more housing in Menlo Park and that was very clear through their Housing Element, City Council’s 
priorities, and through the State. He said they wanted to incentivize ADUs and to whatever extent 
they should use the ordinance to incentivize those ADUs. He said he was sure there were people 
on the margin who thought it was not economical to build an 800 square foot ADU because 
imputed rents would be X and insufficient but if they could build a 1200 square foot ADU then 
imputed rents would be Y and therefore worth it. He said that then was an additional housing unit 
in Menlo Park. He said for their purposes tonight he would hope that as a Commission they could 
come together on some very pointed proposals on where they should and could take their ADU 
ordinance and what standards they should set. He said at some point he hoped they could talk 
about the actual specifics on what they might want in terms of simplicity and permissibility. 
 
Chair Ehrich said he also would like to see the City lean into the permissibility and utility of ADUs. 
He said he agreed with all the comments that more data would be nice. He said the data they did 
have was that ADUs had been very popular and lots of people had built them in Menlo Park.  
He said as he recalled that fact was one of two reasons that the City was currently on track to 
meet its housing goals. He said it was a reasonable debate on whether the ADUs seen so far were 
or were not adding the types of units they wanted to see. He said given discussion at City Council 
over the last few weeks he was very concerned about the City’s ability to meet their housing goals. 
He said if they did not there could be the loss of local control and introduction of the chaos of 
Builder Remedy that would take up an enormous amount of City staff and the public’s time. He 
said if ADUs were a way to help them avoid not meeting their housing goals then they needed to 
talk seriously on how to make sure ADUs helped them do that. He said that second gives the 
choice of having net new units or just more square feet for bigger houses, he would take net new 
units. He said he was not against larger houses, noting he had a large family and wanted Menlo 
Park to be friendly to large families. He said large houses were good for that and ADUs had been 
an important contributor to that goal. He said those were the lenses with which he was looking at 
the draft. He said he had specific comments. He said first in terms of the issue of exterior and 
interior access he was building on Commissioner Silin’s comments in favor of a requirement to 
provide separate exterior access to an ADU. He said he strongly was not in favor of and very 
concerned with the appearance in this draft of a prohibition on interior access between houses and 
attached ADUs. He said it was reasonable to require exterior access so the units could be rented 
separately but prohibiting interior access made it much less likely that people would build ADUs. 
He said the staff report indicated that this was an objective standard the City was considering but 
that they did not have to apply it. He said he was first and foremost concerned about the 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 17 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

implications of doing so. He said his second specific point was that he would like to see them 
increase the maximum floor area in their objective development standards. He said his 
understanding from the State ADU handbook was that if the city did not have a separate ADU 
ordinance then the maximum floor area was 1200 square feet for an ADU. He said their current 
objective development standards had a maximum floor area of 850 square feet for one-bedroom, 
or 1,000 square feet for more than one-bedroom ADUs. He said he would like to see those 
maximum floor areas increase to at least 1,200 square feet and interested in looking at 1,400 
square feet but he thought they were being more restrictive than the State default so he would like 
to see them increase maximum floor areas to 1,200 square feet. He said that was point number 
two. He said point number three along the same lines was that the maximum floor area currently 
was the lesser of an absolute number; in this case 1,000 square feet, he believed, or 50% of the 
existing dwelling. He said he was not in favor of that second part about the 50% of the existing 
building. He said people should not be penalized for having smaller lots or smaller houses. He said 
if someone with a small existing house wanted to build a 1,000 square foot ADU they should 
encourage that and not restrict their ability to do so because their current house was small. He 
said his last and fourth point was relatively minor regarding the current requirement that an ADU 
have an exterior access pathway from the public right of way. He said this was quite detailed, but 
he currently owned a home where he could imagine there being an ADU, but the access would be 
from an easement, and he did not know if that qualified as a public right of way. He said he would 
ask staff to look at whether or not the requirement to be from a public right of way to ADUs might 
be from alleys or easements or something like that. 
 
Planner Pruter said staff could certainly look into that. 
 
Commissioner Behroozi asked for more explanation about the recommendation about interior 
access. She said it sounded like that was something staff detected that was out of compliance with 
City building code.  
 
Mr. Perata said the City had allowed internal access and staff had been looking at that as it related 
to the California Building Code. He said that was a State code and the City implemented it. He 
said it did appear that there should be greater limitations per the California Residential Code on 
internal access between an ADU and a main dwelling. He said staff’s recommendation from the 
planning side and in the ordinance notwithstanding the State-mandated and non-State-mandated 
ADUs needed to comply with the California Residential Code. He said they were currently looking 
at the 2025 California Building Code which included the California Residential Code for what 
allowances for access would be. He said if there were any, they would be very limited per that 
building code and that would supersede any zoning  ordinance that was in effect.  
 
Chair Ehrich said if State law was what it was then that it would have to supersede local law. He 
said he was not aware of most or a lot of cities in California that were prohibiting interior access so 
if that was part of State law he would expect most if not all cities in California prohibiting. He said 
staff should continue to look at it. He said if they were taking a more restrictive view of that code 
that was not the way the City should be going given their other goals. He said if it was State law 
that was a separate issue.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said she would first briefly comment on the interior door issue, and then 
provide feedback on a section by section basis of the topics organized in the staff report under the 
heading of the mandatory State regulatory and changes. She said regarding the interior door she 
very much appreciated Chair Ehrich’s point that it might cause some people to say they would not 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 18 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

build an ADU if they could not have a door between the ADU space and their primary residence. 
She said she thought it was an improvement in the probability of the ADU space becoming a future 
housing unit as the absence of an interior door and a link between the two would much more likely 
cause a person to think about whether the ADU could be rented and actually be an independent 
living unit, and create a situation where there was more than one family unit in a given space. She 
said it might not be the person who built it, but it might be for the people who come after them. She 
said that was something she tried to keep in mind as they discussed these ADUs as they might get 
built in one context but five or six years, 12 or 18 years later it was a different family with a different 
context or the same family with a different need, an adult child, or an elderly parent. She said she 
was in favor of promoting or at least publicizing. She said if it was State law about the interior 
doors then they needed to respect that and she would want it in the ADU ordinances and 
conversely it was something to seriously consider as creating new units.  
 
Commissioner Schindler referred to the staff report and mandatory State regulatory changes and 
said the section on parking laid out the requirements but then posed questions as it related to non-
State-mandated ADUs. She said she would be in favor of removing any parking restrictions they 
could. She said for the question she thought was specifically about State-mandated units she 
suggested letting the people with the property make the decision about parking. 
 
Commissioner Schindler referred to the second question about processing timelines. She said 
staff specifically introduced the appeals process and laid out some of the logistics for how it would 
work. She said the part seeking feedback was which agency would hear the appeal. She said it 
proposed the Planning Commission, and at first, she thought that did not seem quite right but 
thinking through it they could not ask staff to appeal their own work, it would be a poor use of City 
Council resources, and third party consultants would be expensive. She said upon further thought 
she could not arrive at better answer than the Planning Commission. She said if there was another 
option she had not thought of, she would like to hear about that when they discussed this next 
time, but for now it sounded like most logical alternative.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said she did not have additional feedback on the questions or the outline 
about the number of overall ADUs, other than she agreed with staff’s recommendations not to 
allow additional ADUs beyond what was permitted by State law. She said that was because of the 
principle she had outlined earlier to try to keep things straightforward, so they did not have to go 
back and revise their ordinance as the State evolved. She said she did not have concerns or 
questions about putting in the fire or sanitary districts’ requirements in the ADU ordinance because 
of the principle that it made these ordinances function more like a handbook, which she thought 
was highlighted in the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Schindler said regarding amnesty she understood the idea of moving the amnesty 
data forward noting right now they allowed for amnesty from January 1, 2020. She said she would 
not like it to be moved up to a more current date as she would like the State to believe that they 
had been enforcing the regulations at some point. She said the idea in the staff report about doing 
it to the date of the Housing Element seemed logical, but she did not have a strong opinion on 
that. She said she would have some final thoughts on the questions posed in the local objective 
standards. 
 
Commissioner Ferrick suggested sequentially it might be helpful for the team notetaking to weigh 
in on the same items in the same order that Chair Ehrich and Commissioners Schindler and 
Silverstein just weighed in on. She said regarding simplicity and permissibility that she agreed to 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 19 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

the extent that State laws were already quite permissible with respect to ADUs and it was the most 
simple solution to restate and link to those relevant laws from their own building codes being 
changed and to keep up would be the most straightforward rather than trying to create very 
specific square footages and various things without the data. She said she hoped they could get 
some data before the next time they saw this, like something that would indicate why they might 
change the square footage beyond 850 or permit more. 
 
Commissioner Ferrick said regarding exterior access she supported the continued requirement for 
the unit to be accessed from the exterior. She said regarding interior access that her thoughts 
were mixed. She said she appreciated Commissioner Schindler’s perspective and that it probably 
would create more potential for units and kind of tamp down on just square footage grab. She said 
however, a scenario for her was the need for a caregiver living in an ADU to have the best 
accessibility to the people being cared for. She said she was not quite sure how to write an 
ordinance that both met those needs but incentivized the behavior they wanted to see with an 
actual unit. She said regarding floor area maximums and smaller lots that she agreed with the staff 
report recommendation that at least daylight plane requirements were maintained. She said she 
wanted really good ADU design to continue and would not want a proliferation of overbuilt lots 
where there were then difficult issues with neighbors and neighborhoods that then became a 
backlash about ADUs in general. She said she also agreed though that they did not want to 
penalize small lot owners from participating in ADUs. She said for whatever reason 800, 850 
square feet seemed to be the magical number that worked both with the State and most of the 
City’s lots, and it seemed to be a size that was also functional. She referred to exterior access 
from the public right of way, and she felt that they did not need to make this more onerous than 
State requirements. She said she just would like to make sure that they were adhering at least to 
State requirements, and she was not sure requiring beyond that was a necessary update. She 
said she agreed with Commissioner Schindler and was in favor of removing a requirement for a 
covered space for parking.  
 
Commissioner Silin said he generally agreed with the comment about it not really being worth the 
conversation unless they were trying to encourage more ADU capacity than the State did. He said 
there were some minute details that he thought were worth considering but outside of that and 
within that framing he had a few ideas but he wanted to ask staff if there were any specific 
examples that came to mind of homeowners who wanted to add an ADU and maybe even 
submitted an application but realized it would not work for reasons that could be adjusted in the 
zoning code or if staff had any suggestions. He said if the goal of the Planning Commission was to 
encourage more ADUs what did staff think were the biggest hurdles right now for homeowners in 
the code that might cause them to decide against doing an ADU, 
 
Planner Pruter said the process and overall timelines were a major issue for a number of different 
stakeholders involved in ADUs, whether a developer, a homeowner, or someone interested in 
moving into an ADU, and that was a reflection of just the current regulations and procedures. He 
said State law was helping to streamline that so there would be improvement on that. He said also 
as mentioned in the staff report, they were still working on the preapproved ADU program. He said 
they did not have any currently available but once they had some they could approve then they 
were hopeful that could really speed things up in terms of just limiting the amount of zoning review 
that was necessary. He said they had more available options for ADUs than ever before so 
perhaps previously there was more of a limitation on how one could convert an existing building 
but there was more flexibility now built in with State law. He said there was lot with how JADUs 
and attached ADUs could be built that had improved over time with just setbacks and different 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 20 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

requirements they had had before. He said for example they had a more rigid understanding of 
front setback requirements and sometimes the front was the only area that might work for certain 
development reasons. He said some of the development standards could be seen as a hurdle as 
the property might be maxed out or there might be an issue with the layout of a lot if there was a 
very large development in terms of the main residence being so large with such a large footprint 
there was not a lot of land remaining and yard or outdoor space was more desirable than an ADU.  
 
Commissioner Silin said he was thinking about setbacks with the State requirement being four feet 
on the sides and rear. He asked about the front setbacks. Planner Pruter said front setbacks could 
vary. He said initially a change in State law required them to rethink how they were applying front 
setback requirements for detached ADUs. He said detached ADUs for example did not have a 
specific limitation on front setbacks apart from building code, fire safety, fire rating, and other 
factors that went beyond planning purview. He said other front setback details to factor within an 
attached ADU was that had previously been required to match the primary residence setback. He 
said much of the single family zoning was 20 feet for a front setback and that precluded an 
addition in front of a residence. He said they were thinking about this with this update and State 
law. He said it was a little difficult and technical to explain but basically it was requiring them to 
think of the front setback in relation to what it would take to build the guaranteed 800 square foot 
ADU that could still have the required side setbacks. He said looking at full lot development and 
what kind of square footage was available what was the buildable area for that. He said a classic 
R-1U lot had certain limitations with a 50-foot wide lot, a driveway, a parking access point, and 
perhaps a garage that would be kept but there was more ability to build that800 square foot ADU 
allowance than there had been before.  
 
Commissioner Silin referred to the staff report where it said that for a front setback that whatever 
setback was necessary to enable construction of an 800 square foot ADU. He asked how 
necessary was defined.  
 
Mr. Perata said it was staff’s understanding that this was per State law. He said they needed to 
allow for an 800 square foot minimum ADU potentially in the front setback and whether or not it 
was necessary for the hypothetical raised the City would not be able to say no to an ADU in the 
front setback as long as it was 800 square feet or less. He said the ordinance was set up to help 
provide that clarity to the broader community in Menlo Park that per State law there was an 
allowance for an 800 square foot ADU that could encroach into the front setback, as necessary. 
He said “as necessary” could be subjective, but it was really intended to comply with State law and 
provide that allowance.  
 
Commissioner Silin said in terms of what they could do to further allow ADUs in San Diego they 
allowed more ADUs on multifamily properties if some of them were deed restricted affordable. He 
said he also read recently that the community pushed back on that because developers started 
putting a lot of ADUs on properties. He said in Portland Oregon you could add up to eight ADUs to 
a single family home and he believed those were allowed to be sold separately and there were 
conditions on how many you could add based on the lot size and other things. He said the biggest 
levers they could pull would be how many ADUs could be added and what was the square footage 
of those. He said setbacks for the most part did not seem a factor. He suggested thinking about 
giving more flexibility in terms of going to the maximum, which he thought was 1,200 square feet 
for all ADUs whether State-mandated or not. He said essentially allowing larger ADUs would 
encourage more people to build one. He said as far as allowing more than one ADU on a lot there 
were cases where you could on a single-family lot. He said regarding data, what the Commission 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 21 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

saw were a lot of new single-family home construction and many of those were including ADUs. 
He said what they did not know or saw were people adding ADUs to existing homes as those were 
ministerially approved. He said it would be nice to know if there were certain categories of 
homeowners that had been turned away by the zoning code from adding an ADU. He said in Table 
2, page 9 of the staff report, it mentioned that square footage shall not exceed 50% of an existing 
primary dwelling or 1,000 square feet, whichever was less. He said another statement on page 11 
of the staff report mentioned that State law was clear that an ADU could not exceed 50%of the 
existing primary residence or 850 square feet for studio one bedroom units and 1,000 square feet 
for two or more bedroom units, whichever is less. He said he thought that was incorrect. He said in 
the Q&A in the ADU handbook offered by HCD, a specific question on page 40 asked: Can 
maximum unit sizes exceed 1200 square feet for ADUs? He said the answer read: Yes, maximum 
unit sizes can exceed 1,200 square feet for ADUs through the adoption of a less stringent local 
ADU ordinance. He said right above that it said: Can a percentage of the primary dwelling be used 
to limit the maximum size of an attached ADU? It said: Yes, but only if it does not restrict the ADU 
size to less than 800 square feet, 850 square feet or 1,000 square feet. He said on a previous 
page: Can minimum and maximum unit sizes be established for ADUs? He said in that answer it 
said that these were all minimums and not maximums. He said for example, for local agencies 
without a compliant ADU ordinance the maximum unit size was 1,200 square feet but they could 
increase that with the local ordinance. He said it seemed the sky was the limit but at the very least 
setting the maximum at 850 square feet or anything below 1,200 square feet seemed more 
restrictive than what the State said could happen without a local ordinance.  
 
Commissioner Silverstein said he heard some contradiction in the interior access discussion on 
how over a long horizon uses of ADU might vary with future homeowners envisioning different 
purposes for those ADUs. He said if they restricted interior access, he imagined the total number 
of ADUs built would significantly go down, and would not provide the opportunity in the first place 
for the use cases to deviate and migrate. He said if they disincentivized the initial build of the ADU 
then the family there next that wanted more would not have the opportunity to envision what this 
ADU could become as it had never been built in the first place. He said that was his biggest 
concern around not building them. He said he agreed with the point that to some extent a lot of 
ADUs they saw were a bit of a wink and nod around it extending square footage to the primary 
residence but that they were being built in the first place allowed for the next family and the family 
after that the creativity and opportunity to change the nature of those ADUs over time. He said on 
overall square footage he said he would be disappointed if they adopted the State minimum for 
their ADUs. He said he did not think the City had a great reputation for pushing the envelope to 
allow very permissible building. He said they were in a housing crisis and if the reasons why they 
would not allow for more square footage in an ADU was because of fear of community or neighbor 
pushback, or worried that someone was going to get too much house on their lot that did not sit 
with him for the purposes of actually incentivizing it. He said it did not mean every ADU was going 
to be maxed out or 100% of ADUs were the 1,200 square foot size or whatever maximum they 
wanted to make it, but it would certainly allow for the marginal ADU. He said he did not think they 
would ever get data on the people who would want to build an ADU and were not able to by seeing 
that the only permissible size was 800 square feet to date. He said he was not proposing to take it 
to an extreme and allow any square footage, but the State minimum seemed insufficient. He said if 
an ADU was considered to be accessory in nature and sufficient for a nanny or a grandparent that  
850 square feet was not necessarily sufficient as a standalone housing unit for a family that might 
want to live there. He asked if other people wanted to talk about heights as staff had suggested 
three heights for different ADUs and he would like to see that simplified.  
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 22 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Commissioner Behroozi said she would support that. Chair Ehrich said he would support 20 foot 
height to allow ability for two-story ADUs. 
 
Commissioner Behroozi said she noticed that Menlo Park was recently featured in the American 
Enterprise Institute, a conservative think tank publication, which talked about the 
McMansionification of California communities. She said they had a huge opportunity cost every 
time a single lot was developed, especially some of the large lots that they saw being developed 
as a big house and JADU or an ADU that might potentially have provided eight townhomes and 
the middle housing that people would purchase. She said they were all kind of dancing around 
how to do something that approximated what they were looking for which was creating more 
homes that would actually be used as more homes. She said it was disappointing to her in the 
early discussions of the Housing Element that the City did not grapple more earnestly with whether 
they wanted to address that. She said it became like a third rail in Menlo Park politics and got 
taken off the table very quickly. She said she wanted to pose for the record that if even 
conservative think tanks were asking why people were not doing this and deeming Menlo Park to 
be at a particularly high risk of having all available land quickly converted into large new homes 
that meant they would not be redeveloped for another 20 or 30 years then maybe it was time to 
look at that again. She said regarding ADU size and other points about ADUs that she thought 
there was an interesting opportunity here with the fact that the State had introduced laws that 
would allow them to basically create for sale units. She said they were not producing a lot of 
middle housing; they were producing apartments and producing ADUs that they did not know were 
getting rented but were functioning as small apartments, and producing a whole lot of big single 
family homes. She said she would echo what others had said about the interior doors. She said if it 
was a law and interpretation was as generous as it could be then that was what they had to do but 
every time one of those lots got redeveloped, they were missing an opportunity to add more 
housing units. She said she thought it was worth looking at the combination effect of allowing 
larger ADUs than the State minimum and leveraging the new State law that said people should be 
able to sell them as again they were missing an opportunity to add more housing units. She said 
she would like to do whatever they could to make sure people were incentivized to build additional 
units and that it was not too onerous. She said yes to liberalizing height and square footage 
restrictions. She said they should not add restrictions where they did not currently exist. She said 
regarding parking restrictions that as long as they were continuing to enforce the no street parking 
overnight ordinance in most neighborhoods that she thought there were genuinely people looking 
for residences that did not need parking and she would basically let the owner who was building 
decide whether or not they thought they had a more rentable unit if they added parking space or 
whether they could use that land some other way.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said she appreciated the comments and looking at the interior door issue 
and size issue from a couple of different perspectives. She said regarding the former that she saw 
the tension between once the additional space existed and limiting how it might be used in the 
future, but she did not actually feel like she had to make a call as she felt it was a requirement that 
would end up in the building code. She said about maximum sizes that she started the meeting 
with the perspective of sticking with the State’s recommendations or what was in the staff report. 
She asked if they were going to talk about building an additional big house on a lot, then also talk 
about SB9 and about actually building another not extra-large ADU but another real housing unit. 
She said she was not enough of an expert as to what was being discussed at the State level to 
talk about whether having extra-large ADUs would somehow put them in the way of things 
happening with SB9. She said if they could do the part that was brought up about being able to 
sell, having an extra-large size ADU and then potentially having the ability to sell that 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 23 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

approximated some things the State and City were trying to do so she was moving in that direction 
dependent on things that were happening at the State level.  
 
Commissioner Shindler said she wanted to weigh in on the questions staff had posed under the 
local objective standard proposals as they had gone through the effort of developing the proposals 
and writing it up with a healthy degree of context. She said there was a discussion about when 
internal ADU conversions happened and some of the criteria that happened around this. She said 
her reading of the staff report was that maybe there were instances where people wanted to have 
a footprint that was smaller rather than identical when they did a reconstruction. She said she 
thought the language that was proposed about being able to have the same size or smaller 
footprint was of benefit to people who were reconstructing and would like to have an ADU. She 
said it made sense to her. She said keeping the daylight plan logically made sense and that was 
proposed in the ordinance. She said having additions where they were happening of up to 150 
square feet within a four foot setback made sense to her. She said it was the same logic of having 
the setback in that it protected neighbors. She said they had talked about the exterior access, the 
direct weatherproof path and she had given feedback to remove the word “direct.” She referred to 
a statement about stairs and landing that she thought made sense as it gave neighbors a little bit 
more protection and stuck to the concept of a four foot setback and what that was supposed to 
represent. She said she disagreed with the language about having the stair and landing no greater 
than the minimum size as it would make the ADU less useful. She said if coverage and building 
area allowed for a landing or stair larger than the absolute minimum required for safety and fire 
that they should be allowed to make that decision similar to logic that applied with covered 
porches. She said a landing might be a very useful thing that made a unit more usable and 
eventually more rentable. She said covered porches were brought up and she had to presume that 
staff with either historical context or benchmarking of other things had picked 20% and not 15 or 
50%. She said it made sense to have that limitation to keep things regulated by the ADU 
ordinance or keep the covered porches regulated by ADU ordinance rather than other structures. 
She said regarding exterior lighting she wanted to confirm that what was proposed here would 
apply to all ADUs whether State-mandated or not. Planner Pruter said no. Commissioner Schindler 
said then it would apply only to non-State-mandated units. She asked if there was a definition of 
downcast so it would not be subjective. Planner Pruter said they had not gotten into defining those 
terms and it was a valid point. He said the idea about exterior lighting was that it provided a 
limitation and allowed for exploration and discussion and if they all were interested in that could be 
perfected and clarified. Commissioner Schindler said she respected the idea as she thought it 
gave comfort to neighbors. She referred to comment that they did not want ADUs to get a bad rap 
over the next few years. She said one of the slides mentioned windowsill heights and while that 
was something they had discussed in ADU or small setback contexts as a Planning Commission 
she could not think of any way that could be done that was not subjective. She said typically when 
they talked about sill heights, they were looking at how close the other structures were, concerns 
neighbors had expressed, how tall the windows were, where the windows were -in a bathroom or 
stair landing – she said there were so many variables and thought it could be very difficult to make 
an objective standard.  
 
Commissioner Silin said if stair landings were used as balconies, he could see that being a 
concern if that was right on the four foot setbacks against the rear of the property whereas the 
main house had a much bigger setback. He said potentially they could consider something like 
certain things were not allowed if they were outside where the primary residence could go. He said 
if it was within a setback the primary residence was subject to then it seemed like the property 
owner should be able to do whatever lighting or whatever landing wanted but if it was within an 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 24 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

ADU-only setback perhaps there they would get a little more restrictive. He said regarding 
branding that he could see some sort of backlash as they had certainly had that from neighbors 
about an ADU going in at the Commission hearings. He said if they tried something and there was 
backlash then it would be up to the City Council to roll back some of the things they put into place 
and then they would be right where they were now. He said he was open to trying some new 
things and taking seriously their goals and commitments. He said from that perspective he thought 
they generally should try to incentivize what they wanted by tying it to the main residence, noting 
programs in Portland Oregon did that. He said for example they could consider adding a restriction 
to the main residence. He said right now essentially the main residence was subject to certain 
maximums like building and lot coverage. He said they might offer an applicant if you build one 
ADU right now you get the 800 square feet and main residence; maybe if you build two ADUs you 
get an additional 400 square feet for the ADU and an additional 400 square feet for the main 
residence. He said they could incentivize the owners so they could get a bigger main residence 
but only if they built a second ADU. He said or offer build one ADU of 800 square feet or build two 
you get 1,200 or 1,600 square feet but nothing extra for the main residence. He said that kind of 
raised the potential concern of what people would do with those ADUs. He said in San Diego and 
Portland what they had done in some cases was the second ADU had to be an affordable unit. He 
said he struggled with that as given their construction costs in Menlo Park that the rent needed to 
be charged to break even would be quite high. He said perhaps staff could explore whether there 
was opportunity for that with affordable housing developers or maybe financing programs that 
could help out with that. He said if that would basically preclude the ADU being built then they 
should not. He said the fallback was if there was any way they could somehow ensure it was at 
least rented out. He said he did not think that needed to be required as presumably if an owner 
built two ADUs at least one of them they would be looking to rent. He said it could go up to three or 
four and would be a matter of size and location. He said potentially a number of bedrooms could 
be another option that would get some incentive whether square footage for the main residence or 
for the ADUs or both. He said he would leave that to staff to come back with some potential ideas.  
 
Chair Ehrich referred to comment on ADU law versus SB9 and what that was doing. He suggested 
to do both as it seemed good to have multiple pathways. He said he was less concerned with the 
academic distinction of the various intent of various laws and in fact would be happy for there to be 
somewhat redundant pathways. He said in practice they saw more people building ADUs than 
doing lot splits so if it had to be in one versus the other, he would rather have it in ADU law as that 
seemed to be practically more used. He said they should not do something in ADU laws because 
they thought they were going to do it via SB9 as that seemed counterproductive.  
 
Commissioner Silin said he also supported not having parking requirements and with the 
ordinance banning overnight street parking that was not going to cause a detrimental situation for 
neighbors. He said he supported exploring the idea of being able to sell ADUs separately.  
 
Commissioner Behroozi said they had discussed a rental registry during discussion on the 
Housing Element update but could not remember where they landed with that. She said she was 
very curious about whether any of the ADUs were being rented currently. She said she was also 
curious more generally about their rental housing stock. She said it was hard to be good at 
developing effective policy when they did not know what they were looking at to begin with and it 
would be interesting at some point to know how their housing stock was being rented, what the 
occupancy rates and rental rates were and to be able to use that as a basis for forming better 
recommendations in the future. She said she understood there were some logistical complications, 
but she thought Palo Alto was working on that right now.  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 25 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Commissioner Silverstein referred to the comments on incremental ADUs beyond just one that 
kind of alluded to something he said previously around whether an ADU be accessory in nature or 
should it be considered as an additional dwelling unit. He said he did not know the answer. He 
said reading the staff report and the minimum of State law implied that the general expectation 
was they would have up to one detached ADU on a single-family lot and that was the basic 
minimum they could do that might or might not improve the housing situation in the City. He asked 
given the kind of creativity that was mentioned and what other municipalities seemed to be doing 
in regard to incentivizing multiple ADUs for truly increased density if that was a direction that this 
project could be going. He said he wanted to know if that was an avenue that was worth the 
Commission exploring. He said not to waste anyone’s time, but he at least appreciated the 
creativity and what it could potentially unlock in terms of actual housing stock.  

 
Mr. Perata said this evening staff was taking feedback to evaluate. He said the Commission could 
certainly discuss additional items beyond what was in the draft ordinance this evening. He said it 
was intended to help focus the conversation, but certain topics could definitely be brought up and 
discussed. He said they were not in a position to opine on whether something could be supported 
or not but would need to do an evaluation post meeting and bring it back as part of an ordinance.  

 
Commissioner Silverstein asked why they cared about the percentage of a covered porch relative 
to the square footage of an ADU.  

 
Commissioner Behroozi asked if they were talking about pool houses or something. 

 
Planner Pruter said the main concern was just the fact that the covered porch could be expanded 
beyond a reasonable amount. He said anecdotally there were instances where the covered porch 
was a little more ambiguous in its relation to the primary residence and it could be the case that a 
development had a larger covered porch and took advantage of that to benefit the site as a whole 
and not the ADU directly.  

 
Replying further, Mr. Perata said a covered porch attached to a main residence needed to meet 
the setback requirements or other development regulations of the main dwelling unit. He said a 
detached, open air structure would be an accessory structure with its own regulations that were 
not necessarily the same as an ADU. He said they were trying to solve for what was a proportional 
covered porch entryway to the size of the unit versus one that could be the same size as the unit 
creating a substantially large structure, potentially very close to a neighbor and creating some 
potential impacts to that neighbor. He said staff’s perspective was to try to solve for some 
scenarios they had seen with some large covered porches that were not typical of what would be 
an entryway to a main unit or to an ADU in this case but that would really be functioning as an 
extension of say the main residence’s overall landscaping area and structures on the project site.  

 
Commissioner Silverstein confirmed with staff that covered porches were subject to setbacks. He 
said the only way they could have a large covered porch close to the neighbor was if the initial 
ADU or structure was even further set back from the minimum requirement. Mr. Perata said 
potentially but there were nuances regarding State regulations versus local regulations for 
accessory structures and buildings versus ADUs and what the State required staff to permit by 
right versus where the City might have some discretion. He said there were hypotheticals here that 
would be difficult to get into and what staff was trying to solve for basically was a recommendation 
about proportionality.  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 26 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Commissioner Silverstein confirmed that covered porches on primary residences did not have a 
proportionality requirement. He said in theory he could have a small house and a massive covered 
porch. Mr. Perata said that would be regulated by building coverage and that would preclude that 
hypothetical scenario. 

  
Commissioner Silverstien said he appreciated staff wanted to limit the covered porch to 
proportionality and asked if it would make more sense to just limit the objective size of the covered 
porch whether it was a small or large ADU because thinking about the benefit of an entryway did 
not scale in – maybe aesthetically it did – but in terms of the practicality or utility of an entryway or 
covered porch that did not scale with the size of the structure but rather if you wanted to keep a 
stroller there or a shoe shelf which was more of an objective standard as opposed to a relative 
one. 

 
Commissioner Behroozi asked for an example of when staff saw an accessory structure 
masquerading as an ADU.  

 
Mr. Perata said they had seen a number of permits where there was a primary residence, an ADU 
and a large attached covered porch accessory structure. He said it might be in relation to a pool on 
site or some outdoor living space and it potentially was designed as independent living space. He 
said staff’s recommendation was for proportional sized covered porch that would relate to the 
ADU. He said they would evaluate the feedback. 

 
Commissioner Behroozi said after the pandemic when people started socializing outdoors more, 
she imagined people felt grateful to have a covered outdoor space attached to their ADU and that 
would be useful to them beyond just a little use. She said maybe there was a way to explore other 
kinds of separation from the main house’s entertainment zone or something like that. She said if 
they were talking about covered outdoor kitchens and pool houses that putting those within four 
feet of the neighbor’s house did not seem like a great use of the ADU laws, but she would not want 
to ban porches.  

  
Mr. Perata said informationally that 20% of 1,000 square feet was 200 square feet so they were 
talking about a pretty large porch even at 20%. He said that was where staff came to with that and 
what seemed like a reasonable amount. 
 

G. Informational Items 
 
G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: January 12, 2026 
 

Mr. Perata said the tentative agenda for January 12 was two single-family home projects and an 
architectural control on a multifamily residential building.  
 

H.  Adjournment 
 

Chair Ehrich adjourned the meeting at 10:30 p.m. 
 
Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
December 15, 2025 
Page 27 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 



  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   1/12/2026 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 846 9472 6242 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Ehrich called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Andrew Ehrich (Chair), Ross Silverstein (Vice Chair), Katie Behroozi, Linh Dan Do,  
Jennifer Schindler, Misha Silin 
 
Absent: Katie Ferrick 
 
Staff: Monica Roy, Planning Technician; Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner; Brian Toy, Associate 
Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Principal Planner Sandmeier said the City Council at its January 13th meeting would hear an update 
on the City’s Middle Avenue Pedestrian and Bicycle Rail Crossing project. 
 

D.  Public Comment  
  
 Chair Ehrich opened the public comment and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 

 
E.  Consent Calendar 
  
 Chair Ehrich opened the item for public comment and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
E1. Approval of minutes from the December 1, 2025 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Schindler/Silverstein) to approve the Consent Calendar consisting of 

minutes from the December 1, 2025 Planning Commission meeting; passes 6-0 with Commissioner 
Ferrick absent. 

 
F.  Public Hearing Item 
 
F1. Use Permit/Jessica Govea/108 Gilbert Ave:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit for a change of use from retail to office 
for a tenant suite within an existing commercial building that is substandard with regard to the 
minimum parking requirement in the C-MU (Neighborhood Mixed Use) zoning district. 
(Withdrawn by the applicant) 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
January 12, 2026 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
G. Public Meeting Item 
 
G1.  Architectural Control/Joon Lee/896 Middle Ave.: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control permit to modify the exterior of 
an existing multi-family development in the R-3 (Apartment) zoning district, at 896 Middle Ave. The 
modifications would include new lap and shingle siding, belly bands and corner trims. Additionally, 
the existing wood battens at the deck railings would be replaced with horizontal lap siding and the 
buildings would be repainted. The modifications would not affect the gross floor area or number of 
units. Determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 
1 exemption for existing facilities. (Staff report #26-001-PC) 
 
Associate Planner Toy said staff had no updates on the item.  
 
Chair Ehrich opened the item for public comment and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
Replying to Commissioner Behroozi, Planner Toy said the City Attorney provided a definition of 
substantial remodel, which might inhibit tenant rights, and how just cosmetic improvements and 
other minor work that could be performed safely without a residential property being vacated was not 
substantial rehabilitation. He said this proposal did not appear to have anything that would require 
tenants to vacate the property nor fall under the definition of substantial remodel.  
 
Chair Ehrich noted the applicant responded there were no plans to have tenants move out during 
this work.   
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Silin/Behroozi) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as submitted, 
passes 6-0 with Commissioner Ferrick absent.  
 

H. Informational Items 
 
H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: January 26, 2026 
 
Planner Sandmeier said the January 26th meeting would be cancelled as no items were ready for 
that meeting. She said staff did not have the agenda for February 9th confirmed yet. 
 
• Regular Meeting: February 9, 2026 

 
I.  Adjournment 
 
 Chair Ehrich adjourned the meeting at 7:20 p.m. 
 
 Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
 Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 



Community Development 

City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission 
Meeting Date:  2/23/2026 
Staff Report Number:  26-002-PC

Public Hearing: Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 
permit to demolish an existing single-story single-
family residence and construct two new two-story 
single-family residences, each with an attached 
one-car garage, on a substandard lot with regard 
to minimum lot width in the R-2 (Low-Density 
Apartment) zoning district. The proposal would 
also include two attached Accessory Dwelling 
Units (ADUs), one for each proposed single-family 
residence, which is a permitted use and not 
subject to discretionary review. Additionally, there 
are three heritage trees proposed for 
development-related removal. Determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for 

new construction or conversion of small 
structures.  

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish 
an existing single-story single-family residence and construct two new two-story single-family residences, 
each with an attached one-car garage, on a substandard lot with regard to lot width in the R-2 Low-Density 
Apartment District. The proposal would also include two attached Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs), one 
for each proposed single-family residence, which is a permitted use and not subject to discretionary 
review. Additionally, there are three heritage trees proposed for development-related removal. The draft 
resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

Policy Issues 
Each use permit is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed project. 

Background 
Site Location 
The subject property is located at 636 Cambridge Ave. Using Cambridge Ave. in the north-south 
orientation, the subject property is located on the west side of Cambridge Ave. near the intersection of 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 2 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

Cambridge Ave. and El Camino Real. A location map is included as Attachment B. 
 
The property is zoned R-2 (Low-Density Apartment District). The property is bordered by properties in the 
R-2 (Low-Density Apartment District) on all sides as well as across the street on the east side of 
Cambridge Ave. However, north along Cambridge Ave. towards El Camino Real, properties are zoned R-3 
(Apartment District) and SP-ECR-D (El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan).  

 

Analysis 
Project Description 
The subject property is currently occupied by a single-story single-family residence. The existing single-
family residence was built in 1922 and is approximately 1,220 square feet with a one-car carport and 
unfinished basement.  
 
The lot is substandard with regard to minimum lot width. The lot has a width of 60 feet where 65 feet is 
required. A use permit is required to construct a two-story home on a substandard lot.  
 
The applicant proposes to demolish an existing single-story single-family residence and construct two new 
two-story single-family residences. Each new two-story single-family residence would have an attached 
one-car garage and an attached Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). The proposed ADUs are a permitted use 
and not subject to discretionary review. The new front two-story residence would be a one-bedroom, one-
bathroom home with an attached one-car garage. The new rear two-story residence would be a two-
bedroom, 2.5-bathroom home with an attached one-car garage. Each new residence would also have one 
compliant uncovered parking space. 
 
The two new proposed two-story residences would meet all Zoning Ordinance requirements for setbacks, 
floor area limit (FAL), second floor area, building coverage, height, parking, and landscaping. 
 
The proposed front home would be entirely on the first floor and the attached ADU would be almost 
entirely on the second floor. Conversely, the proposed main rear home would be almost entirely on the 
second floor apart from the entrance, staircase, and half bathroom. Nearly the entire first floor would be 
the Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). Each main home and each ADU meet their required setbacks as 
detailed in the data table, which is included as Attachment B. 
 
The total floor area would be 4,315 square feet where 2,936 square feet is allowed. This number includes 
the two proposed attached ADUs. Each attached ADU is allowed to exceed the maximum floor area by up 
to 800 square feet. As each attached ADU would be greater than 800 square feet, the attached ADUs 
would use some of the floor area of the lot. The total floor area of the main homes and the ADUs prior to 
the 800 square feet of exceedance granted for each attached ADU would be less than 2,936 square feet, 
resulting in a compliant floor area for the proposed project. 
 
The total second floor area would be 1,632 square feet where 1,101 square feet is allowed. This number 
includes the proposed attached ADU of the front house, which would be almost entirely on the second 
floor. The proposed attached ADU of the front house is allowed to exceed the maximum floor area by up 
to 800 square feet. As the attached ADU of the front house would include greater than 800 square feet of 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 3 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

floor area on the second floor, the attached ADU would use some of the second-floor area of the lot. The 
main home of the front house has no floor area on the second floor. The total floor area of the main home 
of the rear house and the attached ADU of the front house prior to the 800 square-foot exceedance 
granted for the attached ADU for the front home would be less than 1,101 square feet, resulting in a 
compliant second floor area for the proposed project. 
 
The total building coverage would be 2,683 square feet where 2,569 square feet is allowed. This number 
includes the two proposed attached ADUs. Each attached ADU is allowed to exceed the maximum 
building coverage by up to 800 square feet. The building coverage prior to the up to 800 square-foot 
exceedance granted for each attached ADU would be less than 2,569 square feet, resulting in a compliant 
building coverage for the proposed project. 
 
Each proposed home would provide one covered and one uncovered parking space that is not in a 
required front or side yard which meets the parking requirements for residential district uses. Please note 
that one parking space would be provided for each ADU. ADU parking spaces may be located anywhere 
on the property, including in tandem with other parking spaces. 
 
The project would provide 2,483 square feet of landscaping where a minimum of 2,936 square feet of 
landscaping is required. This number includes the up to 800 square-foot exemption from landscaping 
requirements for each attached ADU. Per the 2025 ADU Handbook published by the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development, “A local agency's open space zoning requirements 
may not deny an ADU of at least 800 square feet with four-foot rear and side setbacks”. The proposed 

front and rear homes have 64 square feet of porch area dedicated to the attached ADUs. The proposed 
attached ADU of the rear house has a building coverage of 475 square feet (ADU area on the first floor 
that does not have the second-floor main home above). Therefore, there are 539 square feet of non-
landscaping area that is exempt from minimum landscaping requirements. The 2,483 square feet of 
proposed landscaping plus 539 square feet of exempt non-landscaping area equates to 3,022 square feet, 
which would be greater than the minimum landscaping requirement of 2,936 square feet, resulting in a 
compliant landscaping percentage for the project. 
 
Design and Materials 
The proposed project would replace an existing ranch style single-family home with two new Craftsman 
style single-family homes. The two new residences would have white board and batten siding, black 
trimmed windows, and gable roofs with black shingles. Each new residence would also have a brown fiber 
glass front door with glass panel as well as a brown garage door with glass panels. Each new residence 
would also have front and rear porch landing areas.  
 
The proposed front home would have a height of 27 feet 2 inches. The front elevation shows the front door 
in the center of the proposed residence and the garage door on the left side of the structure. There are 
four windows proposed on the first floor and two windows proposed on the second floor. All windows on 
this elevation have a sill height of three feet or higher. The left elevation shows the porch eave overhang, 
one window on the first floor, a door to a room with the shared water heater between the main home and 
the ADU, and four windows on the second floor. The garage window on the first floor has a sill height of 
six feet six inches. The second-floor windows have a sill height of at least three feet, with the window 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 4 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

furthest to the left being in the staircase and showing a sill height of eight feet two inches from the landing. 
The rear elevation shows two windows on the first floor, the door for the separate exterior ADU entrance, 
the door to a room with the shared water heater between the main home and the ADU, and one window 
on the second floor. The windows on the first floor have sill heights of five feet and four feet three inches 
and the window on the second floor has a sill height of five feet. The right elevation shows the porch and 
porch eave overhang, three windows on the first floor, and five windows on the second floor. The windows 
on the first floor have sill heights of at least four feet six inches and the windows on the second floor have 
sill heights of at least three feet. 
 
The proposed rear home would have a height of 26 feet. The front elevation shows the front door in the 
center of the proposed residence and the garage door on the left side of the of the structure. There are 
five windows proposed on the first floor and four windows proposed on the second floor. All windows on 
this elevation have a sill height of at least three feet. The three long rectangular windows on the second 
floor are in the stairwell and have a sill height of seven feet eight inches from the stair landing. The right 
elevation shows two windows on the first floor and three windows on the second floor. The windows on the 
first floor have sill heights of four feet six inches and five feet and the windows on the second floor have sill 
heights of three feet and one foot 11 inches. The rear elevation shows the door for the separate ADU 
exterior entrance, two windows on the first floor, and five windows on the second floor. The windows on 
the first floor have sill heights of four feet six inches and six feet three inches and the windows on the 
second floor have sill heights of two feet nine inches or higher. The left elevation shows the garage 
window, a door for entrance into the garage, doors to a room with the shared water heater between the 
main home and the ADU, the door for the separate ADU exterior entrance, the rear porch, sliding glass 
doors that open to the ADU kitchen, and one window on the second floor. The first-floor window has a sill 
height of four feet three inches, and the second-floor window has a sill height of five feet. 
 
The floor plans for both the front and rear homes show a shared accessory room which enables an interior 
connection between the main home and each accessory dwelling unit per the 2025 California Residential 
Code (CRC). Section 302.3.6 of the California Residential Code states the following: Shared accessory 
rooms shall be separated from each individual dwelling unit in accordance with Table R302.3.6. Other 
sections of the California Residential Code outline minimum room area requirements and minimum room 
dimensions. The shared accessory rooms shown on the floor plans have been reviewed by the Building 
Official. 
 
The site currently consists of one structure, which is a single-story single-family home. The single-story 
single-family home is proposed to be demolished and replaced with two new two-story single-family 
homes, each with an attached ADU. The site would then consist of two structures: two two-story single-
family homes with attached ADUs. The site also has fencing along both side property lines and the rear 
property line. The fencing along the right property line and rear property line are proposed to remain, while 
new seven-foot-high fencing is proposed along the left property line. Additionally, a new seven-foot-high 
fence covered with artificial green hedge is proposed to separate the two uncovered parking spaces on 
the site. Finally, the existing driveway is asphalt pavement and is on the right side of the site. This 
driveway is proposed to be removed and one curb cut with two driveways is proposed on the left side of 
the site. Due to the movement of the driveway location, there is an existing speed bump on Cambridge 
Ave. that would be replaced with a new speed bump. 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 5 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

 
The streetscape along Cambridge Ave. immediately surrounding the subject property currently consists of 
a mixture of single-story and two-story single-family homes. There is a duplex that is partially single-story 
(660 Cambridge Ave.) and partially two-story (662 Cambridge Ave.) at 660 and 662 Cambridge Ave., a 
single-story single-family home at 628 Cambridge Ave. to the right of the subject property, and a single-
story single-family home at 626 Cambridge Ave. Across the street, there is a single-story single-family 
home at 627 Cambridge Ave., a single-story duplex at 635 and 637 Cambridge Ave., and a two-story 
single-family home at 649 Cambridge Ave. This proposal would change the streetscape by converting the 
single-story single-family structure at 636 Cambridge Ave. to two two-story single-family structures with 
attached ADUs, although only the front home would impact the streetscape. There are already two-story 
structures in the immediate vicinity of 636 Cambridge Ave. as evidenced by 662 Cambridge Ave. and 649 
Cambridge Ave. While there would be a change in the streetscape, this change would keep with the 
character of the neighborhood. 
 
The applicant has conducted outreach, which is summarized later in this staff report. Staff believes the 
scale, materials, and style of the proposed residences would result in development that is appropriately 
sized for the lot and generally consistent with the broader neighborhood. 
 
Trees and Landscaping 
The applicant submitted an arborist report (Attachment A, Exhibit C), detailing the species, size, and 
conditions of on-site and nearby trees. A total of nine trees were assessed, including six heritage trees 
(trees #3, 4, 5, 6, 8, and 9 in the table below). There are two on-site heritage trees proposed for removal 
(tree #5, a 19.5-inch Chinese Pistache and tree #9, a 20-inch Glossy Privet). There is also one 
neighboring heritage tree proposed for removal (tree #3, a 16-inch Glossy Privet), which requires neighbor 
approval for removal. This tree would require removal due to the location of the proposed driveway, which 
would be moved from the right side of the property to the left side of the property and enable tree #8, a 46-
inch Coast Redwood, to be retained. The proposed mitigation plan for the heritage tree removals is the 
planting of four 15-gallon Bay Laurels spaced eight-to-10 feet apart at the rear of the property along with a 
$18,460 in-lieu fee. Neighbor approval has been granted for the removal of tree #3. The City Arborist has 
reviewed and approved the heritage tree removal permit based on development, pending Planning 
Commission approval of the project. However, the in-lieu fee has not yet been paid by the applicant and 
would be included as project-specific condition of approval 2a. Two non-heritage trees, tree #2, a seven-
inch Orange, and tree #7, a 14-inch Glossy Privet, would also be removed for the development of the new 
residences. 
 
To protect the heritage trees and non-heritage trees on and off site, the arborist report outlines 
requirements for tree protection fencing during construction as well as necessary pre- and post-
construction measures. All recommended tree protection measures identified in the arborist report would 
be implemented and ensured as part of condition 1h. 
 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

ID # Species Trunk 
Diameter 

Condition Status Removal or 
Retention 

Location 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 6 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

1 Orange 8.5 Good Non-heritage Retain On-site 

2 Orange 7 Good Non-heritage Remove On-site 

3 Glossy Privet 16 Fair Heritage Remove Property Line 

4 Loquat 18 Good Heritage Retain On-site 

5 Chinese Pistache 19.5 Good Heritage Remove On-site 

6 Coast Redwood 40 Excellent Heritage Retain Property Line 

7 Glossy Privet 14 Fair Non-heritage Remove On-site 

8 Coast Redwood 46 Good Heritage Retain On-site 

9 Glossy Privet 20 Fair Heritage Remove On-site 

 
Correspondence 
The applicant indicates they conducted neighborhood outreach. The project description letter details 
outreach to 628 Cambridge Ave. and 662 Cambridge Ave. The applicant stated the neighbors have 
expressed no concern with the project. Staff has not received any direct correspondence regarding the 
proposed project. 
 
Conclusion 
Staff believes that the scale, materials, and style of the proposed residences are compatible with those of 
the overall neighborhood. Cambridge Ave. has a mixture of single-family residences and duplexes that are 
both single-story and two-story structures. The proposal would meet all Zoning Ordinance requirements. 
The development consists of four units, as each attached ADU would functionally serve as a separate unit. 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the proposed project.  

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the 
City’s Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New construction or conversion of 

small structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 
 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 



Staff Report #: 25-002-PC 
Page 7 

 

 City of Menlo Park   701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600 menlopark.gov 

 
 
 
Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the Use Permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans 
B. Project Description Letter 
C. Arborist Report 
D. Conditions of Approval  

B. Location Map 
C. Data Table 

 
 
 

Report prepared by: 
Brian Toy, Associate Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



ATTACHMENT A

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2026-0XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT REQUEST TO DEMOLISH AN 
EXISTING SINGLE-STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE, AND 
CONSTRUCT TWO NEW TWO-STORY SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCES, 
EACH WITH AN ATTACHED ONE-CAR GARAGE, ON A SUBSTANDARD 
LOT WITH REGARD TO LOT WIDTH, IN THE R-2 ZONING DISTRICT, AT 
636 CAMBRIDGE AVENUE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use permit to 
demolish an existing single-story, single-family residence and construct  two new two-story, 
single-family residences on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, in the R-2 (Low-
Density Apartment) zoning district, (collectively, the “Project”) from Angan Das (“Applicant” and 
“Owner”), located at 636 Cambridge Avenue (APN 071-413-240) (“Property”). The Project use 
permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and project description letter, which 
are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Low-Density Apartment (R-2) zoning district, which 
supports single-family and multi-family residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is substandard with regard to minimum lot width, in the R-2 zoning 
district; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 16.59 allows two-story residences to be constructed on a substandard lot, 
subject to the granting of a use permit, provided that the development complies with all other 
regulations in the applicable zoning district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project complies with all objective standards of the R-2 district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU) for each 
two-story residence, which is a permitted use and not subject to discretionary review; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and found to be in 
compliance with City standards; and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report, attached hereto as Exhibit C, prepared by 
Bo Firestone Trees & Gardens, which was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in 
compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance, and proposes mitigation measures to adequately 
protect heritage trees in the vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has proposed to remove three heritage trees which were reviewed and 
tentatively approved pending Planning Commission review as part of Heritage Tree Removal 
Permit number HTR2025-00163; and 

A1



Resolution No. 2026-0XX 

WHEREAS, the Project requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, and 
therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code Section 
§21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15000 et seq.) require
analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, and is 
therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from environmental review under Class 3 (Section 
15303, “New construction or conversion of small structures”) of the current California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according 
to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on February 23, 2026, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, prior to 
taking action regarding the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, which 
may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and other 
materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds the foregoing 
recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park 
does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of a use permit for the construction of two new two-story residences on a substandard 
lot is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal 
Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, under the
circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, safety, morals,
comfort, and general welfare of the persons residing in the neighborhood of such
proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and improvements in the
neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because:

a. The establishment of the proposed Project will not be detrimental to health,
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare because consideration and due
regard were given to the nature and condition of all adjacent uses and structures,
and to general plans for the area in question and surrounding areas, and impact

A2



Resolution No. 2026-0XX 

of the application hereon; in that, the proposed use permit is consistent with the 
R-2 zoning district and the General Plan because two-story residences are 
allowed to be constructed on substandard lots subject to granting of a use permit. 

b. Each proposed residence would include the required number of off-street
parking spaces because two parking spaces would be required at a minimum for
each residence, and one covered parking space for each residence is provided
in an attached garage and one compliant uncovered parking space for each
residence is provided on the site.

c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and
ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code, and the Commission
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and
welfare of the surrounding community as the new residences would be located
in a multi-family neighborhood.

Section 4.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit No. 
PLN2025-00034, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and 
project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as 
Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is conditioned in conformance with the 
conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit D.   

Section 5.  Environmental Review.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings, based 
on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed and taken into 
consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review under Class 3 (Section
15303, “New construction or conversion of small structures”) of the current California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines

Section 6.  Severability. If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of 
these findings to a particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the 
remaining provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, 
shall continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby certify that the above 
and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a 
meeting by said Planning Commission on February 23, 2026, by the following votes: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

A3



Resolution No. 2026-0XX 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City 
on this ____ day of February, 2026. 

PC Liaison Signature 

______________________________ 
Corinna Sandmeier 
Principal Planner  
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 

A. Project plans
B. Project description letter
C. Arborist report
D. Conditions of approval

A4



EXHIBIT A

A5



CAMBRIDGE AVENUE
(
50' WIDE)

SITE

A6



R

O

T

R

O
T

FRONT HOME
DRIVEWAY

REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

R
IG

H
T

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 1

22
.3

7'

FRONT PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

636 CAMBRIDGE AVE

REAR HOME
DRIVEWAY

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

EXTERIOR
HVAC

7'-3"

17
'-0

"

20
'-1

"

6'-1"

FIRST
FLOOR

SECOND
FLOOR

23
'-0

"

17'-8"

9'-9"

39
'-0

"

1-CAR
GARAGE
-FRONT

HOME
COVERED
PARKING

MAIN HOUSE
PORCH

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

ADU
LANDING
4'-4"X4'-6"

(N) EM
400
AMP

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

22
'-5

"

5'-3"

4'
-1

"

11'-0" 2'-0" 10'-0"

The HVAC
units will

comply with
the noise

ordinance
limitations of

60 dBA during
the day and 50

dBA at night
measured at
the nearest

property line.

1-CAR
GARAGE

-REAR
HOME

COVERED
PARKING

23'-0"

(N) EM
400

AMP

PARKING
REAR
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED
PARKING
FRONT
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED

7' HIGH FENCE , COVERED WITH ARTIFICIAL
GREEN HEDGE

 EXTERIOR BIFOLD PARKING  DOOR
UPTO 7' HIGH

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

14'-0"
The HVAC

units will
comply with

the noise
ordinance

limitations of
60 dBA during

the day and 50
dBA at night
measured at

the nearest
property line.

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

SECOND
FLOOR

FIRST
FLOOR

(E
)

S
P

E
E

D
 B

U
M

P

(N
)

S
P

E
E

D
 B

U
M

P

 (E) SPEED BUMP TO BE
REPLACED WITH
(N) SPEED BUMP

EXACT LOCATION TO BE
DETERMINED IN THE FIELD

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

20
'-0

"

(1) “All existing cracked or damaged features along the property frontage must be
repaired in kind.  All frontage improvement work shall be in accordance with the
latest version of the City Standard Details.”

(2) “Any frontage improvements which are damaged as a result of construction will be
required to be replaced.”

(3) “An encroachment permit from the Engineering Division is required prior to any
construction activities in the public right of way.”

(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH  > 10' AWAY FROM
LEFT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

(E
)R

IG
H

T
  F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

(N
)L

E
F

T
 7

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

(E)REAR FENCE TO REMAIN

SINGLE NEW DRIVEWAY APPROACH
(ONE CURB CUT)

12'-4"

UTILITIES & ENCROACHMENT PERMIT
1.ALL WET & DRY UTILITIES WILL BE ADDRESSED AS A PART OF
SEPARATE TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP SUBMISSION.
2.ANY WORK BEYOND PROPERTY LINE WILL BE ADDRESSED AS
A PART OF SEPARATE ENCROACHMENT PERMIT SUBMISSION.

(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH  > 10' AWAY FROM
RIGHT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

PATIO - SEATING
AREA

ERER

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

NOTE : EXISTING FENCE WITHIN FRONT SETBACK LESS THAN 48" TALL TO REMAIN ,

CONTINUE THE FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENT (LANDSCAPE
AND CURB/SWALE) CONFORMING TO 628 CAMBRIDGE
AND STOP THE IMPROVEMENTS AT THE EDGE OF THE

NEW DRIVEWAY.

ADU
PARKING

FRONT HOME

18'6" X8'6"

ADU
PARKING

REAR HOME

18'6" X8'6"

(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH  2' AWAY FROM
SIDE  PROPERTY LINE

BACKUP DISTANCE FRONT HOME = 24'1"

EXISTING DRIVEWAY AND EXISTING CURB
WILL NOT REMAIN

2'-0"

BACKUP DISTANCE REAR HOME = 35'6"

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

TREE 'A' TREE 'A'

NEW CURB TO BE CONSTRUCTED

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

PLANTING
 AREA

N(N
440
AMA

PLAANNTINNGGPLANTING
AARREEAAAREA

PPLLLLAAAA
AA
NN
AA
NN
RR
TTTT
EE
IIII
AA
NN
AA
NNGGGG

AAAA
444
((

AA
44
NNN

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS
/ CONCRETE

TREE PROTECTION
FENCE

PROPERTY LINE

TREE

TREE FOR
REMOVAL

BUILDING
LINE

FENCE

BUILDING LINE
OF SECOND FLOOR

NEW
SPEED BUMP

EXISTING
SPEED BUMP

PLANTING AREA

ARTIFICIAL TURF

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS
/ CONCRETE

STEPPING STONES

A 15 GAL.
LAURUS NOBILIS

A7



636 628 626660670680

CAMBRIDGE AVE

EXISTING HOUSE
TO BE DEMOLISHED

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

PROPOSED
FRONT HOME

PROPOSED
REAR HOME

PATRIDGE AVE

” ’

A8



10'-0"

20'-0"

30'-0"

10'-0"

20'-0"

30'-0"

10'-0"

20'-0"

30'-0"

10'-0"

20'-0"

30'-0"

10'-0"

20'-0"

30'-0"

636 628 626660

” ’ 

A9



LIVING
ROOM

KITCHEN

BEDROOM 3

BEDROOM 2

DINING ROOM

BEDROOM 1

BATH

OFFICE

CONCRETE
PATIO

ENTRY

CV
PORCH

ASPHALT DRIVEWAY

2 CAR
TANDEM CARPORT

DN
(TO BASEMENT )

UNFINISHED BASEMENT

UP

WH

A10



1 CAR GARAGE

BEDROOM 1

BATH 1

COAT CL

CL

LIVING ROOM

KITCHEN

DINING

 ADU
SEPARATE
ENTRANCE

MAIN HOUSE
ENTRANCE

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

LANDING
4'-4"X4'-6"

SHARED
W/H
b/w

main home
& ADU.

FRIDGE

2' Storage shelve above
9'3" from garage floor lvl

2660 CM
TEMP

3680

TEMP
2680 FX 5050 SL TEMP 5046 SL

30
30

 A
W

N
 T

E
M

P
20

50
 C

M

T
E

M
P

60
30

 S
L 21080

2880

3080

20
50

 C
M

2660 CM
TEMP

2660 CM
TEMP

3080

2680

8080

21
08

0

28
80

A2.2

A

A2.2

A

A
2.

2

B

A
2.

2

B

26
80

SECOND FLOOR LINE

WD

28
80

W/D
MAIN

HOME

26"
WH

SIDE
TABLE

SIDE
TABLE

CRAWL SPACE
ENTRY

FF TO CEILING AT LOWEST
POINT

ACCESSORY ROOM -  75 SF
1. ACCESSIBLE FROM BOTH

MAIN HOME & ADU
2. ALL DOORS INTO IT ARE

FIRE RATED
3. ALL WALLS AROUND ARE

FIRERATED

7'10" HT

SOFFIT UNDER
STAIRS TO BE
>= 7'10” FROM

FF

W/D
ADU

LIVING ROOM
BEDROOM 2

BATH 1

BATH 2

W.I.C.

CL

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

50
60

 F
X

 T
E

M
P

3030 AWN TEMP

30
30

 A
W

N
 T

E
M

P
20

50
 C

M
20

50
 C

M

20
50

 C
M

30
30

 A
W

N
T

E
M

P

5050 SL  EGRESS 5050 SL

14"
sun tunnel

wall - 7' from FFL

20
50

 C
M

26
50

 C
M

E
G

R
E

S
S

26
50

 C
M

E
G

R
E

S
S

21080

26
80

21
08

0

26
80

28
80

A2.2

A

A2.2

A

BEDROOM 1

16" sink
2 Burner

12"Under-counter
Refrigerator

HALLWAY CL

A
2.

2

B

A
2.

2

B

28
80

A11



G
(STAIRS)

H

I

J

A
(GARAGE)

D
E

CB

F

G
(STAIRS)

J

FIRST FLOOR MAIN HOUSE
D 19'-11" X 33'-4" 665 SQ FT
E 9'-4" X 20'-6"           192 SQ FT
TOTAL ( MH )            857 SQ FT

ADU COMPLETELY ON SECOND FLOOR 
H                  20'-10"X4'-4"                    90 SQ FT
I                    20'-4"X8'-6"                      173 SQ FT
J                   32'-7"X17'-6"                    570 SQ FT
C                  4'-10"X12'-4"                     46 SQ FT
G (STAIRS) 12'-2"X8'-6"                       104 SQ FT
J-Sun tunnel>12' high -Area counted again    01 SQFT
TOTAL  ADU                                        984 SQ FT

A
GARAGE      10'-6"X20'-6"                    215 SQ FT

ENTIRE  FLOOR AREA                        2056 SQ FT

LEGEND

MAIN HOUSE

ADU

TOTAL FLOOR : ( MH )  + A                  1072 SQ FT

A12



S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 L

IN
E

(N)3'9" :12'
SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE

SLOPE SLOPE

E
A

V
E

S
E

N
C

R
O

A
C

H
M

E
N

T

A2.2

A

A2.2

A

A
2.

2

B

A
2.

2

B

(N)3'9" :12' (N)3'9" :12'

(N)3'9" :12'

(N)3'9" :12'

(N)3'9" :12'

(N)3'9" :12'
SLOPE

(N)3'9" :12'
SLOPE

A2.2

A

A2.2

A

A
2.

2

B

A
2.

2

B

14"
sun tunnel

CL.

GARAGE LIVING ROOM BEDROOM 1

BEDROOM 3 BEDROOM 2

KITCHEN LIVING ROOM

MASTER
CLOSET

MASTER
BEDROOM

BEDROOM
2

ATTIC HEIGHT = 60"

ATTIC HEIGHT = 60"

CL.

NATURAL GRADENATURAL GRADE

FINISHED FLOOR

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

FINISHED FLOOR

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

14"
sun tunnel

A13



MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

NATURAL GRADE

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

NATURAL GRADE

F
R

O
N

T
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

 L
IN

E

A14



P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHTATTIC HEIGHT = 60"

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

NATURAL GRADE

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

F
R

O
N

T
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

 L
IN

E

NATURAL GRADE

A15



OPEN PORCH
WITH NO

 COLUMNS
LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

POWDER
ROOM

KITCHEN

D
IN

IN
G

LIVING
ROOM

ADU
BEDROOM

A
D

U
B

A
T

H

HP -W/H
 shared b/w

main home &
ADU with

shared access.
MAIN HOUSE

MAIN HOME
W/D

REFRIGERATOR

ADU SEPARATE
ENTRANCE

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

OPEN RAILING FOR
STAIRCASE

UP

W/H
Double

louvered
 door

2'6" Storage shelve above 9' 3"from
garage floor lvl

Garage door 8' High

28
80

CLOSET
1680 DOOR

19
80

T
E

M
P

 8
08

0

3680

2680

2980

21
08

0

SID
E

T
A

B
L

E
SID

E
T

A
B

L
E

50
50

 S
L

3050 CM

TEMP
3030AWN

5050 TEMP
EGRESS SL

T
E

M
P

50
46

 S
L

50
50

3' high Half ht wall

MICROWAVE
OVEN

UP

2030 FX
TEMP

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 H
O

M
E

 F
R

O
M

M
A

IN
 H

O
M

E
 T

O
 A

D
U

D/W

2030 FX
TEMP

2030 FX
TEMP

MAIN
HOME

ENTRANCE

21
08

0

UP

CL

A3.2

CC

A3.2

A
3.

2

D
D

A
3.

2

20
 M

IN
S

 F
IR

E
 R

A
T

E
D

G
A

R
A

G
E

 D
O

O
R

SECOND FLOOR LINE

 FOYER

 STAIRCASE

3080

30
80

ADU
W/D

3080

5050 FX

ACCESSORY ROOM -  71 SF
1. ACCESSIBLE FROM BOTH

MAIN HOME & ADU
2. ALL DOORS INTO IT ARE

FIRE RATED
3. ALL WALLS AROUND ARE

FIRERATED

21
08

0

BEDROOM 1

WALK
IN

CLOSET

BATH 1

MASTER
BEDROOM

MASTER
BATH

DN LIVING ROOM

5050 SL

EGRESS
5050 SL

TEMP
3030 AWN

TEMP
3030 AWN

A
W

N
30

30
 T

E
M

P

20
50

 C
M

20
50

 C
M

20
50

 C
M

20
50

 C
M

21
08

0

28
80

21080

2680

C
LO

S
E

T
S

T
O

R
A

G
E14" dia

Sun tunnel

2070 FX
TEMP

EGRESS
2650 CM

EGRESS
2650 CM

ATTIC
ACCESS21

08
0

2070 FX
TEMP

2070 FX
TEMP

A3.2

CC

A3.2

A
3.

2

C
C

A
3.

2

16" sink
Under-counter
Refrigerator 2 Burner

12"

28
80

A16



G3

F
(STAIRS)

H

G2

G1

G4

A
(GARAGE)

B

C D1

E1

D3
D2

E3

D4
F

(STAIRS)

E2

E4 J

FIRST FLOOR MAIN HOUSE
B 3'-4"X3'-6"           11 SQ FT
E1 6'-0"7X7'-10"           47 SQ FT
E2 18'-1"X3'-6" 64 SQ FT
E3 5'-6"X5'-4" 29 SQ FT
E4                5'-0"X8'-6"                         43 SQ FT
F (STAIRS)  12'-0"X7'-10"                     94 SQ FT
C                  3'-6"X4'-6"                        16 SQ FT
TOTAL FIRST FLOOR 304 SQ FT

SECOND FLOOR MAIN HOUSE
G1 4'-1"X10'-10" 44 SQ FT
G2 7'-1"X13'-1" 93 SQ FT
G3 12'-0"X15'-2" 183 SQ FT
G4 20'-4"X23'-0" 468 SQ FT
H 2'-0"X4'-11"           10 SQ FT
TOTAL  SECOND FLOOR                   798 SQ FT

TOTAL MAIN HOUSE  ( MH )              1102 SQ FT

ADU COMPLETELY ON FIRST FLOOR 
D1                5'-6"X9'-4"                         52 SQ FT
D2                12'-7"X14'-8"                    185 SQ FT
D3                 19'-0"X27'-8"                    525 SQ FT
D4                 19'-0"X11'-4"                    173 SQ FT
TOTAL  FLOOR AREA ADU                 935 SQ FT

A
GARAGE      11'-0"X21'-0"                   222SQ FT

ENTIRE MAIN HOME  ( MH + A)        1324 SQ FT

ENTIRE FLOOR AREA                        2259 SQ FT

LEGEND

MAIN HOUSE

ADU

A17



(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 L

IN
E

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 L

IN
E

E
A

V
E

S
 E

N
C

R
O

A
C

H
M

E
N

T

A3.2

CC

A3.2

A
3.

2

D

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

(N)4 :12
SLOPE

A3.2

CC

A3.2

A
3.

2

C
C

A
3.

2

ATTIC SPACE

AREA ABOVE 30" IN ATTIC

14" dia
Sun tunnel

BEDROOM 1

ATTIC HEIGHT > 30"

18"CRAWL SPACE

LIVING
ROOM

GARAGE

WALK IN
CLOSET

STAIRCASE

14" dia
Sun tunnel

is 10'9" from FF
( less than 12' in height )

ACCESSORY ROOM DININGLIVING
ROOM

KITCHEN

BEDROOM
2

BEDROOM
1

18"CRAWL SPACE

ATTIC HEIGHT > 30"

A18



MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

CURRENT GRADE LEVEL

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

CURRENT GRADE LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

ATTIC HEIGHT > 30"

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

A19



MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

CURRENT GRADE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

ATTIC HEIGHT > 30"

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT

CURRENT GRADE LEVEL

FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

FINISHED CEILING LEVEL

SECOND FLOOR LEVEL

ROOF HEIGHT

A20



PRESIDENTIAL SHAKE-TL SHINGLES
(CHARCOAL BLACK )

ANDERSON - 100 BLACK WINDOWS

ARAGE DOOR
(BROWN)

BOARD & BATTEN SIDING
 (WHITE )

FIBRE GLASS DOOR
WITH GLASS PANEL

( BROWN )

TILED LANDING
( GRAY )

PRESIDENTIAL SHAKE-TL SHINGLES
(CHARCOAL BLACK )

ANDERSON - 100 BLACK WINDOWS

GARAGE DOOR
(BROWN)

BOARD & BATTEN SIDING
 (WHITE )

FIBRE GLASS DOOR
WITH GLASS PANEL

( BROWN )

TILED LANDING
( GRAY )

PRESIDENTIAL SHAKE-TL SHINGLES
(CHARCOAL BLACK )

ANDERSON - 100 BLACK WINDOWS

GARAGE DOOR
(BROWN)

BOARD & BATTEN SIDING
 (WHITE )

TILED LANDING
( GRAY )

ENTRY DOOR

A21



R

O

T

R

O
T

FRONT HOME
DRIVEWAY

REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

R
IG

H
T

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 1

22
.3

7'

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

636 CAMBRIDGE AVE

REAR HOME
DRIVEWAY

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

7'-3"

17
'-0

"

FIRST
FLOOR

SECOND
FLOOR

(E
)R

IG
H

T
 6

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

 W
IT

H
 1

' T
R

E
LL

IS

(N
)L

E
F

T
 6

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

 W
IT

H
 1

' T
R

E
LL

IS

(E)REAR 6' TALL FENCE WITH 1' TRELLIS

17'-8"
39

'-0
"

1-CAR
GARAGE
-FRONT

HOME
COVERED
PARKING

MAIN HOUSE
PORCH

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

(N) EM
400 AMP

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

22
'-5

"

4'-9"

4'
-1

"

1-CAR
GARAGE

-REAR
HOME

COVERED
PARKING

(N) EM
400

AMP

PARKING
REAR
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED
PARKING
FRONT
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED

7' HIGH FENCE , COVERED WITH ARTIFICIAL
GREEN HEDGE

 EXTERIOR BIFOLD PARKING  DOOR
UPTO 7' HIGH

SECOND
FLOOR

FIRST
FLOOR

M
P

STACKED
EXTERIOR

HVAC

M
P

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

20
'-0

"

ONE SINGLE DRIVEWAY APPROACH (CURB CUT )

STEPPING
STONES

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

STEPPING
STONES

WALK-WAY

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING AREA = 469 SFT
ARTIFICIAL TURF = 310 SFT

LANDSCAPE AREA FOR WELO = 469 SF
ALLOWS FOR PRESCRIPTIVE METHOD COMPLIANCE

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS / CONCRETE  = 610 SFT

PLANTING AREA

ARTIFICIAL TURF

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS / CONCRETE

STEPPING STONES

STEPPING STONES= 279 SFT

TOTAL FRONTYARD OF WHOLE PARCEL MEETING >
50% LANDSCAPE COMPLIANCE

TOTAL HARDSCAPE 610 SF
TOTAL LANDSCAPE 469+310+279 = 1058SF

ADU
LANDING
4'-4"X4'-6"

WALK-WAY

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

PLANTING
 AREA

(N
44

PLAANNTINNGGPLANTING
AARREEAAAREA

PPLLLLAA
AA
AA
AA
NN
AA
NN
RR
TT
EE
TT
EE
IIII
AA
NNNNGGGG

44
(((
4444
NNN

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

PLANTING
 AREA

PLANTING
 AREA

A22



R

O

T

R

O
T

FRONT HOME
DRIVEWAY

REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

R
IG

H
T

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 1

22
.3

7'

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

636 CAMBRIDGE AVE

REAR HOME
DRIVEWAY

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

7'-3"

17
'-0

"

FIRST
FLOOR

SECOND
FLOOR17'-8"

1-CAR
GARAGE
-FRONT

HOME
COVERED
PARKING

MAIN HOUSE
PORCH

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

(N) EM
400 AMP

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

22
'-5

"

4'-9"

4'
-1

"

1-CAR
GARAGE

-REAR
HOME

COVERED
PARKING

(N) EM
400

AMP

PARKING
REAR
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED
PARKING
FRONT
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED

7' HIGH FENCE , COVERED WITH ARTIFICIAL
GREEN HEDGE

 EXTERIOR BIFOLD PARKING  DOOR
UPTO 7' HIGH

SECOND
FLOOR

FIRST
FLOOR

M
P

STACKED
EXTERIOR

HVAC

M
P

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

20
'-0

"

ONE SINGLE DRIVEWAY APPROACH (CURB CUT )

STEPPING
STONES

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

PLANTING
 AREA

(E
)R

IG
H

T
  F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

(N
)L

E
F

T
 7

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

(E)REAR FENCE TO REMAIN

TREE NAME AND LEGEND

SYMBOL SIZE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

A 15 GAL. BAY LAURELLAURUS NOBILIS

PLANTING AREA = 259SFT
ARTIFICIAL TURF = 213SFT

LANDSCAPE AREA FOR WELO = 259 SF
ALLOWS FOR PRESCRIPTIVE METHOD COMPLIANCE

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS / CONCRETE  = 1360 SFT

PLANTING AREA

ARTIFICIAL TURF

IMPERMEABLE PAVERS / CONCRETE

STEPPING STONES

STEPPING STONES= 569 SFT

TREE 'A' TREE 'A'

PATIO - SEATING
AREA

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

STEPPING
STONES

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G
 
A
R
E
A

TOTAL HARDSCAPE 1360 SF
TOTAL LANDSCAPE 259+213+569 = 1041 SF

ADU
LANDING
4'-4"X4'-6"

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

PLANTING
 AREA

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

A23



R

OPEN
PORCH

R

O

T

O
T

REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

R
IG

H
T

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 1

22
.3

7'

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

636 CAMBRIDGE AVE

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

22
'-5

"

M
P

M
P

ONE SINGLE DRIVEWAY APPROACH (CURB CUT )

(N
)L

E
F

T
 7

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

(E
)R

IG
H

T
  F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

(E)REAR FENCE TO REMAIN

BL - BUILDING AREA

BL - BUILDING AREA

LANDSCAPE AREA

DR - DRIVEWAY AREA

DR - DRIVEWAY AREA

DR - DRIVEWAY AREA

OPEN
PORCH

PATIO
STEP

PATIO
STEPS

ADU AREA EXEMPT FROM
BUILDING AREA FOR
LANDSCAPE AREA
CALCULATIONS

UNITHATCH AREA

2,483 SQFT

DRIVEWAY AREA 2,041 SQFT

BUILDING AREA 2714 SQFT

475 SQFT

LEGEND

ADU EXEMPT AREA + ADU PORCH AREA = 475 + 64 = 539 SQ-FT
TOTAL LANDSCAPE AREA = 2,483 + 539 = 3,022 SQ-FT

ADU PORCH 64 SQFT

MAIN HOME PORCH    32 SQFT

WALK-WAYWWALK WAYWA K WAYWWAAAAALLLKK WWWWWAAAYYYYY

P
L
A
N
T
I
N
G

 
A
R
E
A

PLANTING
 AREA

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

PLANTING
 AREA

PLANTINGPLANTING
AREAAREA

PPPPLLLLAA
AA
AA
AA
NN
RR
NN
RR
TT
EE
TT
EE
II
AA
II
AA
NNNNGGGG

ARTIFICIAL
 TURF

WALK-WAY

PLANTING
 AREA

PLANTING
 AREA

A24



TREE INVENTORY - 636 Cambridge Ave., Menlo Park, CA, 94025
Das Residence Inventory rev. 11/21/25

pg. 28

#

1

2

3

4

5

H

H

H

Heritage
(H) Common Name

Orange

Orange

Glossy Privet

Loquat

Chinese Pistache

Botanical Name

Citrus x sinensis

Citrus x sinensis

Ligustrum lucidum

Eriobotrya japonica

Pistacia chinensis

Protected
Status

(not heritage)

(not heritage)

HERITAGE

HERITAGE

HERITAGE

DBH
(inches)

8.5

(3) 4

est. 16

(4) 9

19.5

math.
DBH

(inches)

8.5

7

16

18

19.5

Height
(feet)

15

12

35

30

45

Spread
(feet)

12

12

25

30

40

Condition

GOOD (75%)

GOOD (75%)

FAIR (50%)

GOOD (75%)

GOOD (75%)

Health, Structure, Form
notes

full green canopy,
pleasing form, good

vigor

full green canopy,
pleasing form, good

vigor

codominant form, 15%
canopy dieback

full green canopy,
pleasing form, good

vigor

full green canopy,
pleasing form, good

vigor

6 H Coast Redwood Sequoia sempervirens HERITAGE est. 40 40 90 25 EXCELLENT (90%)

good health and

structure with
significant size, location,

and quality

7 Glossy Privet Ligustrum lucidum (not heritage) 10.5, 9.5 14 30 20 FAIR (50%)
low vigor understory

tree, asymmetrical form

8 H Coast Redwood Sequoia sempervirens HERITAGE est. 46 46 100 40 GOOD (75%)

some symptoms of
drought stress but

otherwise full green
canopy

codominant

9

KEY:

#

H Glossy Privet Ligustrum lucidum HERITAGE (2) 14 20 40 30 FAIR (50%)
asymmetrical form with

narrow angle of
attachment, moderate

vigor

Neighboring / City Street Tree

Removal Request

SEE GLOSSARY FOR DEFINITION OF TERMS

* 6X DBH is recongnized by tree care industry best practices as the distance from trunkface to a cut across
the root plate that would result in a loss of approximately 25% of the root mass. Cuts closer than this may
result in tree decline or instability.
**Based on approximate distance to excavation and extent of excavation (as shown on plans).
***Impact level assumming all basic and special tree protection measures are followed.
****NEIGHBOR'S PERMISSION AND CITY APPROVAL REQUIRED FOR REMOVAL OF TREE #3H.

MATURE LOW 10 20% - 30% 15 25 HIGH LOW REMOVE (X) $2,170

MATURE MODERATE 10 100% 12 20 SEVERE MODERATE REMOVE (X) $15,700

MATURE MODERATE 9 10% - 25% 12 18 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $11,500

MATURE MODERATE

MATURE LOW

4

8

100%

10% - 25%

12

15

7

20

SEVERE

HIGH

LOW REMOVE (X)

LOW REMOVE (X)****

$2,030

$1,390

MATURE MODERATE 4 > 10% 12 9 LOW HIGH PRESERVE $2,990

Age

TREE IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Species

Tolerance
6X DBH*

(feet)
Est. Root
Loss**

TPZ mult.
Factor

Ideal TPZ
Radius (ft)

Impact

Level ***

Suitability
Rating Removal Status

Appraisal

Result

MATURE HIGH 20 10% - 25% 8 27 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $40,200

MATURE LOW 7 > 30% 15 18 SEVERE LOW REMOVE (X) $1,060

MATURE HIGH 23 10% - 25% 8 31 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $39,400

Appraisal calculations summary available upon request.

Prepared by Busara Firestone

ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B
RCA #758

A25



(E)REAR FENCE TO REMAIN REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

FIRST
FLOOR 4'-9" 6H

7

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

The HVAC
units will

comply with
the noise

ordinance
limitations of

60 dBA during
the day and 50

dBA at night
measured at

the nearest
property line.

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

8H

7'-3"

12'-4"

R

O

T

1-CAR
GARAGE

-REAR
HOME

COVERED
PARKING

5H

SECOND
FLOOR

STACKED
EXTERIOR

HVAC

TPZ NOTE: EXISTING 6’ WOOD FENCE AT PROPERTY LINE
TO SERVE AS PROTECTION FOR TREE #6H.

(N) EM
400

AMP

9H LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

UNCOVERED
PARKING

REAR
HOME

18'6" X8'6"
7' HIGH FENCE , COVERED WITH ARTIFICIAL

GREEN HEDGE

4H

EXTERIOR BIFOLD PARKING DOOR
UPTO 7' HIGH

UNCOVERED
PARKING
FRONT
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

ADU
LANDING
4'-4"X3'-6"

EXTERIOR
HVAC

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

TPZ MAP LEGEND: 14'-0"

n

n

n

TREE TO REMOVE

TREE TO REMAIN

TREE ON NEIGHBORS’ PROPERTY /
CITY STREET TREE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING (SEE SPEC.)

ROOT PROTECTION MEASURES
(PRESCRIBED PER REPORT PG. 12)

17'-8"
Tree protection fencing requirements as required by the City of Menlo Park:

3H

1)  Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing mounted on
eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into the ground and spaced no
more than 10 feet apart.

2)  Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored paper (signage
attached) with Project Arborist’s contact information. Signage should be on each protection fence in a
prominent location.

3)  Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for fixed
fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to be moved to ac-
commodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move the fence without authorization
from the Project Arborist or City Arborist.

4) Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative
within the TPZ over bare ground prior to construction activity. REAR HOME

DRIVEWAY

12'-0"
(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH > 10' AWAY FROM
LEFT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

2'-0"

24'0"

2 1

UTILITIES & ENCROACHMENT PERMIT

FRONT HOME
DRIVEWAY

10'-0"
(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH > 10' AWAY FROM
RIGHT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

(E) CURB TO
REMAIN

1.ALL WET & DRY UTILITIES WILL BE ADDRESSED AS A PART OF
SEPARATE TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP SUBMISSION.
2.ANY WORK BEYOND PROPERTY LINE WILL BE ADDRESSED AS
A PART OF SEPARATE ENCROACHMENT PERMIT SUBMISSION.

ARBORIST REPORT
pg. 29

MAIN HOUSE
PORCH

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

BASE MAP: SITE PLAN A1.2
by AIASSA DESIGNERS

(11/07/2025)

SECOND
FLOOR

FIRST
FLOOR

1-CAR
GARAGE
-FRONT

HOME
COVERED
PARKING 9'-9"

6'-1"

(N) EM
400
AMP

R

The HVAC
units will

comply with
the noise

ordinance
limitations of

60 dBA during
the day and 50

dBA at night
measured at

the nearest
property line.

DATE:
rev. 11/21/25

TPZ ELEMENTS DRAWN:
B. FIRESTONE

ISA BOARD CERTIFIED
MASTER ARBORIST

#WE-8525B

FRONT PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

O

T

22
'-5

"

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

(N
)L

E
F

T
 7

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

20
'-0

"

17
'-0

"

20
'-1

"

23
'-0

"

4'
-1

"

39
'-0

"

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE

(E
)R

IG
H

T
 F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN
R

IG
H

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
7'

T
R

E
E

 P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 Z

O
N

E
 M

A
P

63
6 

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

 A
V

E
, M

E
N

LO
 P

A
R

K
, C

A

A26



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 10 of 29

• Tree #6H (neighboring 40” redwood): I met with the developer on October 29th to
inspect exploratory excavation work and review the plan for the foundation and crawl
space. (Please see Photos A-C.) A 12-inch deep exploratory trench was hand-dug along
the edge of the proposed building foundation which would be a slab construction. This
exposed two, four-inch (2, 4”) roots. Both of these roots would likely be kept intact as
they turned sharply downward. There may be additional roots found when excavation
for the crawlspace takes place. However, from this sample, I would not expect more
than 10%-20% of the roots to be affected. The excavation for the crawlspace would be
24 inches deep and would start 10 feet from Tree 6H, outside the 3X DBH Critical Root

Zone recommended for this tree. The cut would not be a full transverse cut across the
root plate. Based on these findings, I determined that impacts to this neighboring tree
would be acceptable. Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of this
report for guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree.

• Tree #8H (neighboring 46” redwood): On October 29th, I also inspected roots carefully
exposed around this redwood, adjacent to the proposed garage (see marked Photo D).
Changes to the plan had been made, flipping the layout in order to retain this tree. The
slab foundation in this area would be about 12 inches into existing grade. Anticipated
root removal would include (1) structural root that looked like a burl/old stump as well
as one exposed 4-inch root. During excavation for the foundation, I estimated that
perhaps two more roots of the same size may be uncovered and would need to be
pruned. However, a transverse cut across the root plate would not be needed. Based
on these findings, I determined that impacts to this tree would be moderate (10%-20%
root loss). Although it is rather close to the new structure, I am confident that this tree
could be retained in good health with Project Arborist oversight while this work is being
done. Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of this report for
guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree.

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 11 of 29

Tree Protection Recommendations

PRE-CONSTRUCTION

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ)

The Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) shall be a fenced-off area where work and material storage is
not allowed. They are established and inspected prior to the start of work. This barrier
protects the critical root zone and trunk from compaction, mechanical damage, and chemical
spills. The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes
on-site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City
before issuance of permits.

Tree protection fencing is required to remain in place throughout construction and may only
be moved or removed with written authorization from the City Arborist. The Project Arborist
may authorize modification to the fencing when a copy of the written authorization is
submitted to the City.

The following activities are prohibited inside the Tree Protection Zone. DO NOT:

• Place heavy machinery for excavation
• Allow runoff or spillage of damaging materials
• Store or stockpile materials, tools, or soil

• Park or drive vehicles
• Trench, dig, or otherwise excavate without first obtaining authorization from the City

Arborist or Project Arborist
• Change soil grade

• Trench with a machine
• Allow fires under and adjacent to trees
• Discharge exhaust into foliage

• Direct runoff towards trees
• Cut, break, skin, or bruise roots, branches, or trunks without authorization from the City

Arborist
• Secure cable, chain, or rope to trees
• Apply soil sterilant under pavement near existing trees

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 12 of 29

Specific recommended protection for trees is as follows:

• Tree #4H (18” loquat): Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 20 feet, or to the
greatest extent possible as limited by the existing and proposed driveway.

• Tree #6H (40” neighboring redwood): Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 25 feet,
or to the greatest extent possible as limited by the proposed home.

• Tree #8H (46” neighboring redwood): Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 30 feet,
or to the greatest extent possible as limited by the proposed home and trash receptacle

area.

TPZ FENCING SPECIFICATIONS:

1) Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing
mounted on eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into
the ground and spaced no more than 10 feet apart.

2) Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored
paper (signage attached at end of report) with Project Arborist’s contact information.
Signage should be on each protection fence in a prominent location.

3) Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for
fixed fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to
be moved to accommodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move
the fence without authorization from the Project Arborist or City Arborist.

TRUNK WRAP SPECIFICATIONS:

• Securely bind wooden slats at least 1-inch-thick around the trunk (preferably on a closed-
cell foam pad). Secure and wrap at least one layer of orange plastic construction fencing
around the outside of the wooden slats for visibility;

• DO NOT drive fasteners into the tree;
• Install trunk protection immediately prior to work within the TPZ and remove protection

from the tree(s) as soon as work moves outside the TPZ;
• Protect major scaffold limbs as determined by the City Arborist or Project Arborist; and

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 13 of 29

• If necessary, install wooden barriers at an angle so that the trunk flare and buttress
roots are also protected.

Preventing Root Damage

Bare ground within the TPZ should have material applied over the ground to reduce soil
compaction and retain soil moisture. Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips
covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative within the TPZ prior to construction activity. Mulch
in excess of four inches would have to be removed after work is completed. Mulch should be
spread manually so as not to cause compaction or damage.

Pruning Branches

I recommend that trees be pruned only as necessary to provide minimum clearance for
proposed structures and the passage of workers, vehicles, and machines, while maintaining a
natural appearance. Any large dead branches should be pruned out for the safety of people
working on the site.

Pruning should be specified in writing adhering to ANSI A300 Pruning Standards and performed
according to Best Management Practices endorsed by the International Society of
Arboriculture. Any pruning (trimming) of branches should be supervised by an ISA-certified

arborist.

Any property owner wanting to prune heritage tree more than one-fourth of the canopy
and/or roots, must have permission from the City.

Arborist Inspection

The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes on-
site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City
before issuance of permits. Tree protection fencing to be inspected by City Arborist before
demo and/or building permit issuance.

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 14 of 29

DURING CONSTRUCTION

Special Tree Protection Measures – Trees #4H, #6H, and #8H

1) Demolition of existing hardscape (Tree #4H) should be performed in a manner that
avoids tearing roots: Using the smallest effective machinery, break up pieces of the
concrete and lift pieces up and away from trees. Cut roots embedded in paving rather
than tearing them (see instructions on root cuts).

2) Excavation guidelines for installation of new foundation (Trees #6H and #8H): Use
hand tools only when excavating within 12 feet of the trunk of redwood trees. If roots
of one-inch diameter or larger must be cut, they should be cut cleanly with a sharp,
clean sawblade perpendicular to the direction of growth (a “square cut”). The cut
should be made where the bark of the root is undamaged and intact. Root pruning
should be supervised by the Project Arborist.

3) Hardscaping (driveway, parking area and trash receptacle) – Trees #4H and #8H:
When excavating within 10 feet of Tree #4H and 23 feet of Tree #8H, use hand tools.
Leave roots encountered unds isturbed if possible. Excavation depth for installation of
new landscape materials within the listed distances of trees should be no more than
four inches (4”) into existing soil grade. Do not compact native soil under paving
materials. No paving materials or any excavation or grading within two feet (2’) of
trunk. Root pruning should be supervised by the Project Arborist.

4) Excavation guidelines for installation of fence footings – Trees #4H and #8H: When
excavating or boring underneath the canopy, or within 10 feet of the trunk of Tree #4H
and 23 feet of Tree #8H, use hand tools within the top 36” of the soil leaving woody
roots undamaged. Under the supervision of the Project Arborist or City Arborist, roots
encountered should be cut cleanly with a sharp, clean sawblade perpendicular to the
direction of growth (a “square cut”). The cut should be made where the bark of the root
is undamaged and intact.If roots of over two inches (2”) are found, the Project Arborist
may recommend moving the location of the footing.

5) Excavation guidelines for installation of underground utility – Tree #4H: Do not trench
within 10 feet of Tree #4H if possible. Consider using boring (tunneling) machines set up

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 15 of 29

outside the dripline of the tree.If trenching is necessary, use hand tools or vacuum soil
extraction in the top 36 inches of soil. Leave woody roots of one inch or larger
undamaged with bark intact. The pipes can then be pushed through the trench or
tunnel, beneath the roots. Most roots are found within the top 24 inches of soil.

Root Pruning

As required by the City of Menlo Park:
• To avoid injury to tree roots, only excavate carefully by hand, compressed air, or high-

pressure water within the dripline of trees.

• When the Contractor encounters roots smaller than 2-inches, hand-trim the wall of the
trench adjacent to the trees to make even, clean cuts through the roots. Cleanly cut all
damaged and torn roots to reduce the incidence of decay.

• Fill trenches within 24 hours. When it is infeasible to fill trenches within 24 hours, shade
the side of the trench adjacent to the trees with four layers of dampened, untreated
burlap. Wet burlap as frequently as necessary to maintain moisture.

• When the Contractor encounters roots 2 inches or larger, report immediately to the
Project Arborist. The Project Arborist will decide whether the Contractor may cut roots 2
inches or larger. If a root is retained, excavate by hand or with compressed air under the
root. Protect preserved roots with dampened burlap.

Irrigation

Water moderately and highly impacted trees during the construction phase. As a rule of
thumb, provide one to two inches per month. Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into
the soil, to the depth of tree roots. Do not water native oaks during the warm dry season (June
– September) as this activates oak root fungus.Instead, make sure that the soil is sufficiently
insulated with mulch (where possible). Remember that unsevered tree roots typically extend
three to five times the distance of the canopy.

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 16 of 29

Project Arborist Supervision

I recommend the Project Arborist meet with the builder on-site:

• Soon after excavation
• During any root pruning
• Monthly tree protection monitoring inspections: As requested by the property owner

or builder to document tree condition and verify on-going compliance with tree
protection plan. Recommendations for any necessary maintenance and impact
mitigation should also be included in monthly reports for City Arborist Review (required
every 4 weeks by the City).

Any time development-related work is recommended to be supervised by a Project Arborist,
a follow-up letter shall be provided, documenting the mitigation has been completed to
specification.

POST-CONSTRUCTION
Ensure any mitigation measures to ensure long-term survival including but not limited to:

Continued Tree Care

Provide adequate and appropriate irrigation. As a rule of thumb, provide 1- 2 inches of
water per month. Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into the soil, to the depth of the
tree roots. Native oaks usually should not be provided supplemental water during the warm,
dry season (June – September) as this activates oak root fungus. Therefore, native oaks should
only be watered October – May when rain has been scarce.

Mulch insulates the soil, reduces weeds, reduces compaction, and promotes myriad benefits
to soil life and tree health. Apply four inches of wood chips (or other mulch) to the surface of
the soil around trees, extending at least to the dripline when possible. Do not pile mulch
against the trunk.

Do not fertilize unless a specific nutrient deficiency has been identified and a specific plan
prescribed by the project arborist (or a consulting arborist).

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25

ARBORIST REPORT

Page 17 of 29

Post-Construction Monitoring

Monitor trees for changes in condition. Check trees at least once per month for the first year
post-construction. Expert monitoring should be done at least every 6 months or if trees show
signs of stress. Signs of stress include unseasonably sparse canopy, leaf drop, early fall color,
browning of needles, and shoot die-back. Stressed trees are also more vulnerable to certain
disease and pest infestations. Call the Project Arborist, or a consulting arborist if these, or
other concerning changes occur in tree health.

City Arborist Inspection

A final inspection by the City Arborist is required at the end of the project. This is to be done
before Tree Protection Fencing is taken down. Replacement trees should be planted by this

time as well.

Conclusion

The home building project planned at 636 Cambridge Ave. appeared to be a valuable upgrade
to the property.
on this report, or require Project Arborist supervision or technical support, please do not
hesitate to contact me at (408) 497-7158 or busara@bofirestone.com.

Signed,

If any of the property owners, project team, or City reviewers have questions

Busara (Bo) Firestone | ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B | ASCA Registered

Consulting Arborist RCA #758 | ISA Qualified Tree Risk Assessor | ASCA Tree and Plant Appraisal
Qualification | Member – American Society of Consulting Arborists | Wildlife-Trained Arborist

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS

PREPARED BY: BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B

| WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM | BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

A27



Project Description 

Introduction: 

The subject property is an R2 sub-standard lot in the Allied Arts neighborhood comprising 
currently of a 1-story ranch style home with no detached accessory structures and no garage. 

The applicant hereby proposes to demolish the existing structure and construct two new 
two-story, single-family homes. Each home will also have an attached ADU and an attached 

1-car covered garage.

Design style and exterior: 

The architectural style of both residences would be contemporary Craftsman style with white 

batten board siding, black trimmed windows, and gable roofs with black shingles. This kind 

of Craftsman architectural style is seen in quite a few existing residences in Allied Arts as well 

as in upcoming new constructions. 

The two proposed residences would, however, vary slightly in design and layout. The front 

house (Unit #1) would be a 1-bedroom, 1-bathroom house located entirely on the 1st level 
connected through an “accessory room” to an attached ADU of 2-bedroom/2-bathroom 

located entirely on the 2nd level. The ADU has its own separate entry on the 1st level though. 
Similarly, the rear house (Unit #2) is a 2-bedroom, 2.5-bathroom house located mostly on the 

2nd level. It is also connected to it’s attached ADU through an “accessory room”. The ADU is 

a 1-bedroom/1-bathroom unit located entirely on 1st level. Both the homes (Front Home and 

Rear Home) would also feature front open porches not contributing to site coverage (i.e. no 

porch columns). 

Parking: 

The applicant proposes to provide adequate on-site parking for both residences and their 
respective ADUs. Each home will be served by – (a) One covered parking space within an 

attached garage, (b) One uncovered parking space, and (c) One additional uncovered parking 
space for it’s ADU. So a total of six parking spaces for the entire parcel. A new driveway will 

be constructed on the other end of the frontage (compared to the existing driveway location) 

to provide vehicular access to the rear residence. This was done primarily to save the huge 

redwood tree at the back, after many design iterations. 

Utilities: 

Both the single family homes would have their own joint trenches for dry utilities like Pg&E 
and communication. For wet utilities, applicant hereby proposes to have two separate water 

meters served from the single existing water line. However, for sewer, the 2 homes would 
connect to the main city sewer through the same existing sewer lateral. 

Square feet, FAL, Landscape, and Site coverage calculations: 

Please refer to the area tables on plan sheets on A2.1 for the front home and A3.1 for the rear 

home. Applicant also wants to bring to staff’s attention that the main aspect in this application 

is the provision of an attached ADU for each home where the first 800 sq-ft of each ADU is 
exempt from FAL, site coverage, 2nd floor area limits, and landscape area calcs. The “Net 

Area Summary” table on page L3 shows compliance to all different area limits. In this respect, 
thanks to staff for providing some recently approved projects for reference (like 734 Partridge 

Ave) in line with the applicant’s desires and objectives.  

EXHIBIT B

A28



Trees and landscaping: 
Applicant hereby requests the permission to remove certain heritage and non-heritage trees 

that would otherwise impede development and/or increase project costs significantly. In 
return, applicant would also like to plant 4 new trees along the rear fence line of the rear 

home. These trees would not only help to preserve the urban forestry of Menlo Park, but also 

provide privacy to the rear home (against all new homes built behind it). 

Neighbor outreach: 

Homeowner and applicant bought the property very recently in May’2025 with the primary 

aim of development. He has already talked to the right neighbor (Andy Russell) owning and 

residing at 628 Cambridge. Andy is very supportive of new construction. Similarly, applicant 
has also talked to left owner neighbor - Elizabeth Lewis (aka Liz) of 662 Cambridge, who also 

happens to the mayor of neighboring city, Atherton. Liz is not only supportive of applicant’s 
new construction, but has additionally given permission towards the removal of trees 

adjoining her parcel as well. 

To summarize: 
The applicant strongly believes in helping Menlo Park reach it’s housing goals in sync with 

the state’s acute housing shortage, but staying within all development and zoning guidelines. 
The project scope will build four new beautiful units that would replace one existing unit built 

back in the 1920’s. So we eagerly look forward to working and cooperating with the city and 

staff in all respects in the coming days. 

A29



BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS 

2150 LACEY DR., MILPITAS, CA 95035 

E:  BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM  C: (408) 497-7158 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

BUSARA FIRESTONE    KAITLYN MEYER   ON STAFF 
 #WE-8525B               #WE-14992A  

A R B O R I S T  R E P O R T
T R E E  P R O T E C T I O N  P L A N

R E V I S E D  N O V E M B E R  2 1 ,  2 0 2 5  

P R E P A R E D  F O R :  A N G A N  D A S  

S I T E  A D D R E S S :  
6 3 6  C A M B R I D G E  A V E .  • M E N L O  P A R K ,  C A  9 4 0 2 5  

EXHIBIT C

A30



PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 
A31



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page i 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM

Contents 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT .............................................................................................................. 1 

USES OF THIS REPORT ................................................................................................................. 1 

Limitations ................................................................................................................................... 2 

City Tree Protection Requirements ................................................................................................ 3 

Heritage Tree Definition .............................................................................................................. 3 

Construction-Related Tree Removals .......................................................................................... 3 

Violation Penalties ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Impacts on Protected Trees ............................................................................................................ 5 

SITE DESCRIPTION........................................................................................................................ 5 

TREE INVENTORY ......................................................................................................................... 5 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION ................................................................................................................ 5 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES ............................................................................... 6 

Damage to Roots ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Mechanical Injury .................................................................................................................... 7 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES ..................................................................................................... 7 

SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................... 7 

TREE REMOVALS ..................................................................................................................... 8 

IMPACTS TO NEIGHBORING AND HERITAGE TREES ............................................................... 9 

Tree Protection Recommendations .............................................................................................. 11 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION ................................................................................................................. 11 

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) .................................................................................. 11 

Preventing Root Damage ...................................................................................................... 13 

Pruning Branches .................................................................................................................. 13 

Arborist Inspection ................................................................................................................ 13 

A32



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page ii 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

DURING CONSTRUCTION ........................................................................................................... 14 

Special Tree Protection Measures – Trees #4H, #6H, and #8H ............................................ 14 

Root Pruning ......................................................................................................................... 15 

Irrigation................................................................................................................................ 15 

Project Arborist Supervision ................................................................................................. 16 

POST-CONSTRUCTION ............................................................................................................... 16 

Continued Tree Care ............................................................................................................. 16 

Post-Construction Monitoring .............................................................................................. 17 

City Arborist Inspection ........................................................................................................ 17 

Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

Supporting Information ................................................................................................................ 18 

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................................. 18 

BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................................................... 20 

PHOTOS (A – D) ......................................................................................................................... 21 

 CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL.………………….………..…………………………………………………….….………….25 

 TREE PROTECTION FENCING SIGNAGE.…………………………………………………………………………………26 

 TREE INVENTORY (TABLE).…………………….………..…………………………………………………….….………….28 

 TREE PROTECTION PLAN MAP………………………………………………………………………………………………29 

A33



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 1 of 29 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Introduction 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT 

On May 21st, 2025, at the request of the property owner, my team visited 636 Cambridge Dr. in 
the role of Project Arborist.  The purpose was to perform the assessments and data collections 
as necessary to create an industry-standard Tree Protection Report for their project permit.  
The report has been revised in response to City Comments.  Revisions have been highlighted.  It 
was my understanding that the existing structures and pavement were to be removed.  Two (2) 
new two-story homes would be built.  New driveways to the homes were planned.  The 
assessments in this report were based on review of the following: 

• Site Plan A1.2 by Aiassa Designs (dated 11/07/2025)
• Boundary and Topographic Survey by Zhen’s Land Surveying Corp. (dated 05/19/2025)

My inventory included a total of nine (9) trees over six inches (6” DBH).  There were six (6) trees 
of Heritage size: two (2) coast redwoods (Sequoia sempervirens), two (2) glossy privet 
(Ligustrum lucidum), a (1) loquat (Eriobotyra japonica), and a (1) Chinese pistache (Pistacia 
chinensis).  Three (3) Heritage trees were requested for removal.  All other neighboring trees 
were sufficiently distant from the work (>10x DBH).    

USES OF THIS REPORT 

According to City Ordinance, any person who conducts grading, excavation, demolition, or 
construction activity on a property is to do so in a manner that does not threaten the health or 
viability or cause the removal of any Heritage Tree.  Any heritage tree to be retained protected 
by the City’s Municipal Code will require replacement according to its appraised value if it is 
damaged beyond repair as a result of construction.  Any work performed within an area 10 
times the diameter of the tree (i.e., the tree protection zone) requires the submittal of a tree 
protection plan for approval by the City before issuance of any permit for grading or 
construction. 

A34



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 2 of 29 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

This report was written by Busara Firestone, Project Arborist, to serve as a resource for the 
property owner, designer, and builder.  As needed, I have provided instructions for retaining, 
protecting, and working around trees during construction, as well as information on City 
requirements. The owner, contractor and architect are responsible for knowing the information 
included in this arborist report and adhering to the conditions provided. 

Limitations 

Trees assessed were limited to the scope of work identified in the assignment.  I have estimated 
the trunk diameters of trees with barriers to access or visibility (such as those on neighboring 
parcels or behind debris).  Although general structure and health were assessed, formal Tree 
Risk Assessments were not conducted unless specified.  Disease diagnostic work was not 
conducted unless specified.  All assessments were the result of ground-based, visual 
inspections.  No excavation or aerial inspections were performed.  Recommendations beyond 
those related to the proposed construction were not within the scope of work.  

My tree impact and preservation assessments were based on information provided in the plans 
I have reviewed to date, and conversations with the involved parties.  I assumed that the 
guidelines and setbacks recommended in this report would be followed.  Assessments, 
conclusions, and opinions shared in this report are not a guarantee of any specific outcome.  If 
additional information (such as engineering or landscape plans) is provided for my review, 
these assessments would be subject to change. 

A35



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 3 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

City Tree Protection Requirements 
 

Heritage Tree Definition 

A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  The City can 
classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  However, in 
general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a diameter of 15 
inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, or at the 
branching point for multi-trunk trees).   

 

Construction-Related Tree Removals 

According to the City of Menlo Park, applicants are required to submit a site plan with the 
Heritage Tree Removal Application Permit even if they have submitted a site plan to the City for 
a planning or building permit. The site plan facilitates the review by the City Arborist.  

For removals of two or more trees, applicants shall be required to submit a planting plan 
indicating the species, size, and location of the proposed replacement trees on a site plan. 
Heritage Tree Permits related to Construction will also be charged for City-retained arborist 
expenses. 

For trees removed for development, mitigation is based on the tree’s appraised value.  
Mitigation must be equal to or greater than the tree’s appraised value is required.  Applicants 
may use the following monetary value of the replacement trees to help design their landscape 
plans for development-related removals: 

• One (1) #5 container – $100 
• One (1) #15 container – $200 
• One (1) 24-inch tree box – $400 
• One (1) 36-inch tree box – $1,200 
• One (1) 48-inch tree box – $5,000 
• One (1) 60-inch tree box – $7,000 
 

A36



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 4 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Violation Penalties 

Any person who violates the tree protection ordinance, including property owners, occupants, 
tree companies and gardeners, could be held liable for violation of the ordinance. The ordinance 
prohibits removal or pruning of over one-fourth of the tree, vandalizing, mutilating, destruction 
and unbalancing of a heritage tree without a permit.  

If a violation occurs during construction, the City may issue a stop-work order suspending and 
prohibiting further activity on the property until a mitigation plan has been approved, including 
protection measures for remaining trees on the property.  Damage to Heritage trees must be 
reported to the Project Arborist or City Arborist within six (6) hours of damage.   

After receiving notice or observing damage during a requested inspection, the Project 
Arborist will issue a report to the client.  This applies to all trees identified for preservation 
including neighboring trees.  Documentation will include a description of the issue (extent of 
wounding, canopy loss or root loss), reassessment of impacts to the tree, and recommended 
remediation. 

Civil penalties may be assessed against any person who commits, allows or maintains a violation 
of any provision of the ordinance.  The fine will be an amount not to exceed $5,000 per violation, 
or an amount equivalent to the replacement value of the tree, whichever is higher. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A37



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 5 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Impacts on Protected Trees 
 

SITE DESCRIPTION 

The property at 636 Cambridge Ave. was a narrow rectangular lot.  The topography was not 
notable.  There was a house on-site with a long driveway on the right-hand side.  The tree stock 
was a mix of fruit trees, natives (redwoods), ornamentals, and weedy trees.  

 

TREE INVENTORY 

This tree preservation plan includes an attached inventory of all trees on the property 
regardless of species, that were at least 12 feet tall and 6-inch DBH. 

This inventory also includes as necessary, any neighboring Heritage Trees with work proposed 
within 10 times their diameter (DBH).  Any street trees within the public right-of-way were also 
included, regardless of size, as required by the City.   

The Inventory includes each tree’s number (as shown on the TPZ map), measurements, 
condition, level of impact (due to proximity to work), tolerance to construction, and overall 
suitability for retainment.  The inventory also includes the appraised value of each tree using 
the Trunk Formula Technique (10th Edition). 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

After review of proposed plan set, it was my understanding that the existing structures and 
pavement were to be removed.  Two (2) new two-story homes would be built.  The existing 
driveway was to be removed, and new driveways to the homes were planned on the left-hand 
side.  After discussions with the design team, the plans were revised to preserve Tree #8H.  
New utilities were also planned.  From a meeting with developer, I concluded that pavers could 
be set on material placed over soil grade with minimum grading.  Excavation would not be 
deeper than five inches (5”) into grade.  Please see attached Tree Protection Plan Map. 

A38



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 6 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES 

Damage to Roots 

Where are the Roots? 

The most common types of injury to trees that occur during property improvements are related 
to root cutting or damage.  Tree roots extend farther out than people realize, and the majority 
are located within the upper 24 inches of soil.  The thickest roots are found close to the trunk, 
and taper and branch into ropey roots.  These ropey roots taper and branch into an intricate 
system of fine fibrous roots, which are connected to an even finer system of fungal filaments. 
This vast below-ground network is tasked with absorbing water and nutrients, as well as 
anchoring the tree in the ground, storage, and communication.   

Damage from Excavation  

Any type of excavation will impact adjacent trees by severing roots and thus cutting off the 
attached network.  Severing large roots, or trenching across the root plate, destroys large 
networks.  Even work that appears to be far from a tree can impact the fibrous root system.  
Placing impervious surfaces over the ground, or installing below ground structures, such as a 
pool, or basement wall, will remove rooting area permanently from a site.   

Damage from Fill 

Adding fill can smother roots, making it difficult for them to access air and water.  The roots 
and other soil life need time to colonize the new upper layers of soil.   

Changes to Drainage and Available Water 

Changes to the hydrology of the site, caused for instance by new septic fields, changes to grade, 
and drainage systems, can also cause big changes in available water for trees.  Trees can die 
from lack of water or disease if their water supply dries up or gets much wetter than they are 
used to.   

A39



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 7 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Soil Compaction and Contamination 

In addition, compaction of soil, or contamination of soil with wash-water, paint, fuel, or other 
chemicals used in the building process, can cause damage to the rooting environment that can 
last many years.  Tree protection fencing creates a barrier to protect as many roots as possible 
from this damage, which can be caused by travelling vehicles, equipment storage, and other 
construction activities that may occur even outside the construction envelope. 

 

Mechanical Injury 

Injury from the impact of vehicles or equipment can occur to the root crown, trunk, and lower 
branches of a tree.  The bark protects a tree – creating a skin-like barrier from disease-causing 
organisms.  The stem tissues support the weight of the plant. They also conduct the flow of 
water, sugars, and other important compounds throughout the tree. When the bark and wood 
is injured, the structure and health of the tree is compromised. 

 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES 

SUMMARY 

Six (6) Heritage Trees would be impacted by the project: two (2) coast redwoods (Sequoia 
sempervirens), two (2) glossy privet (Ligustrum lucidum), a (1) loquat (Eriobotyra japonica), and 
a (1) Chinese pistache (Pistacia chinensis).  Three (3) Heritage trees were requested for 
removal.  

My evaluation of the impacts of the proposed construction work for all affected trees was 
summarized in the Tree Inventory.  These included impacts of grading, excavation for utility 
installation, retaining walls, drainage or any other aspect of the project that could impact the 
service life of the tree.  Anticipated impacts to trees were summarized using a rating system of 
“severe,” “high,” “moderate,” “low,” or “very low.”  

General species tolerance to construction, and condition of the trees (health and structural 
integrity), was also noted on the Inventory.  These major factors, as well as tree age, soil 

A40



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 8 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

characteristics, and species desirability, all factored into an individual tree’s suitability rating, as 
summarized on the Inventory.   Suitability of trees to be retained was rated as “high,” 
“moderate,” “low.”  Trees with low suitability would be appropriate candidates for removal.  
Please see Glossary for definitions of ratings.   

 

TREE REMOVALS 

Removal Justification for trees is as follows: 

• Trees #2, and #7 were not Heritage trees: 
o I recommended Trees #2 and #7 for removal based on “severe” project impacts.  

These trees would not survive the project. 
 
• Tree #3H (16” glossy privet):  This tree was approximately a foot (1’) from the 

proposed driveway.  It would sustain “high” impacts from the proposed driveway and 
would not be anticipated to survive the project.  Removal of this tree would be 
justified as per Menlo Park Administrative Guidelines section 13.24.050 Clause a.5 
“development.”  Since this tree was located partially on neighboring property, the 
neighbor’s permission would need to be granted before the tree can be removed. 
 

• Tree #5H (19.5” Chinese pistache):  This tree was within the footprint of the 
proposed home.  Removal of this tree would be justified as per Menlo Park 
Administrative Guidelines section 13.24.050 Clause a.5 “development.” 
 

• Tree #9H (20” glossy privet):  This relatively low-value tree would sustain “high” impacts 
from the proposed home and driveway would not be anticipated to survive the project. 
Removal of this tree would be justified as per Menlo Park Administrative Guidelines 
section 13.24.050 Clause a.5 “development.” 
 
 
 

A41



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 9 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Menlo Park Administrative Guidelines for Criterion 5: 
The following documentation may be required to support tree removal for economic 
development:  

o Schematic diagrams that demonstrate the feasibility/livability of alternative design(s) 
that preserve the tree, including utilizing zoning ordinance variances that would preserve 
the tree. 
 

o Documentation on the additional incremental construction cost attributable to an 
alternative that preserves the tree (i.e. construction cost of alternative design minus cost 
of original design) in relation to the appraised value of tree(s) and based on the most 
recent addition to the Guide for Plant Appraisal.  
 

The following guidance will be used to determine feasibility:  

o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is more than 140% of the 
appraised value of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially infeasible.  
 

o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is less than 110% of the 
appraised value of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially feasible.  

o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is between 110% and 140% of 
the appraised value of the tree, public works director or their designee will consider a 
range of factors, including the value of the improvements, the value of the tree, the 
location of the tree, the viability of replacement mitigation and other site conditions.  
 

o In calculating the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative, only construction 
costs will be evaluated. No design fees or other soft costs will be considered.  

 

IMPACTS TO NEIGHBORING AND HERITAGE TREES 

• Tree #4H (18” loquat):  This tree was two feet (2’) from the existing driveway.  The new 
parking area was proposed approximately five feet (5’) away, and the new home 10 feet 
away.  A new fence was proposed one foot (1’) from the tree.  A new utility was planned 
within 6x DBH of this tree.  It would be expected to be “moderately” impacted by the 
work (10% - 25% root loss).  Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of 
this report for guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree. 
 

A42



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 10 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

• Tree #6H (neighboring 40” redwood):  I met with the developer on October 29th to 
inspect exploratory excavation work and review the plan for the foundation and crawl 
space.  (Please see Photos A-C.) A 12-inch deep exploratory trench was hand-dug along 
the edge of the proposed building foundation which would be a slab construction.  This 
exposed two, four-inch (2, 4”) roots.  Both of these roots would likely be kept intact as 
they turned sharply downward.  There may be additional roots found when excavation 
for the crawlspace takes place.  However, from this sample, I would not expect more 
than 10%-20% of the roots to be affected.  The excavation for the crawlspace would be 
24 inches deep and would start 10 feet from Tree 6H, outside the 3X DBH Critical Root 
Zone recommended for this tree.  The cut would not be a full transverse cut across the 
root plate.  Based on these findings, I determined that impacts to this neighboring tree 
would be acceptable.  Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of this 
report for guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree. 
 

• Tree #8H (neighboring 46” redwood): On October 29th, I also inspected roots carefully 
exposed around this redwood, adjacent to the proposed garage (see marked Photo D).  
Changes to the plan had been made, flipping the layout in order to retain this tree.  The 
slab foundation in this area would be about 12 inches into existing grade.  Anticipated 
root removal would include (1) structural root that looked like a burl/old stump as well 
as one exposed 4-inch root.  During excavation for the foundation, I estimated that 
perhaps two more roots of the same size may be uncovered and would need to be 
pruned.  However, a transverse cut across the root plate would not be needed.  Based 
on these findings, I determined that impacts to this tree would be moderate (10%-20% 
root loss).  Although it is rather close to the new structure, I am confident that this tree 
could be retained in good health with Project Arborist oversight while this work is being 
done.  Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of this report for 
guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree. 
 
 
 
 
 

A43



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 11 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Tree Protection Recommendations 
 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) 

The Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) shall be a fenced-off area where work and material storage is 
not allowed.  They are established and inspected prior to the start of work.  This barrier 
protects the critical root zone and trunk from compaction, mechanical damage, and chemical 
spills.  The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes 
on-site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 
before issuance of permits.   

Tree protection fencing is required to remain in place throughout construction and may only 
be moved or removed with written authorization from the City Arborist.  The Project Arborist 
may authorize modification to the fencing when a copy of the written authorization is 
submitted to the City. 

The following activities are prohibited inside the Tree Protection Zone.  DO NOT: 

• Place heavy machinery for excavation 
• Allow runoff or spillage of damaging materials 
• Store or stockpile materials, tools, or soil 
• Park or drive vehicles 
• Trench, dig, or otherwise excavate without first obtaining authorization from the City 

Arborist or Project Arborist 
• Change soil grade 
• Trench with a machine 
• Allow fires under and adjacent to trees 
• Discharge exhaust into foliage 
• Direct runoff towards trees 
• Cut, break, skin, or bruise roots, branches, or trunks without authorization from the City 

Arborist 
• Secure cable, chain, or rope to trees 
• Apply soil sterilant under pavement near existing trees 

A44



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 12 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Specific recommended protection for trees is as follows: 

• Tree #4H (18” loquat): Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 20 feet, or to the 
greatest extent possible as limited by the existing and proposed driveway. 
 

• Tree #6H (40” neighboring redwood):  Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 25 feet, 
or to the greatest extent possible as limited by the proposed home. 
 

• Tree #8H (46” neighboring redwood):  Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 30 feet, 
or to the greatest extent possible as limited by the proposed home and trash receptacle 
area. 

TPZ FENCING SPECIFICATIONS: 

1) Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing 
mounted on eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into 
the ground and spaced no more than 10 feet apart.  
 

2) Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored 
paper (signage attached at end of report) with Project Arborist’s contact information.  
Signage should be on each protection fence in a prominent location. 
 

3) Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for 
fixed fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to 
be moved to accommodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move 
the fence without authorization from the Project Arborist or City Arborist. 

TRUNK WRAP SPECIFICATIONS: 

• Securely bind wooden slats at least 1-inch-thick around the trunk (preferably on a closed-
cell foam pad). Secure and wrap at least one layer of orange plastic construction fencing 
around the outside of the wooden slats for visibility;  

• DO NOT drive fasteners into the tree; 
• Install trunk protection immediately prior to work within the TPZ and remove protection 

from the tree(s) as soon as work moves outside the TPZ;  
• Protect major scaffold limbs as determined by the City Arborist or Project Arborist; and  

A45



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 13 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

• If necessary, install wooden barriers at an angle so that the trunk flare and buttress 
roots are also protected.  

 
 

Preventing Root Damage 

Bare ground within the TPZ should have material applied over the ground to reduce soil 
compaction and retain soil moisture.  Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips 
covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative within the TPZ prior to construction activity.  Mulch 
in excess of four inches would have to be removed after work is completed.  Mulch should be 
spread manually so as not to cause compaction or damage.   

 

Pruning Branches 

I recommend that trees be pruned only as necessary to provide minimum clearance for 
proposed structures and the passage of workers, vehicles, and machines, while maintaining a 
natural appearance.  Any large dead branches should be pruned out for the safety of people 
working on the site.   

Pruning should be specified in writing adhering to ANSI A300 Pruning Standards and performed 
according to Best Management Practices endorsed by the International Society of 
Arboriculture. Any pruning (trimming) of branches should be supervised by an ISA-certified 
arborist.   

Any property owner wanting to prune heritage tree more than one-fourth of the canopy 
and/or roots, must have permission from the City. 

Arborist Inspection 

The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes on-
site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 
before issuance of permits.  Tree protection fencing to be inspected by City Arborist before 
demo and/or building permit issuance.   

 

A46



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 14 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

DURING CONSTRUCTION 

Special Tree Protection Measures – Trees #4H, #6H, and #8H 

1) Demolition of existing hardscape (Tree #4H) should be performed in a manner that 
avoids tearing roots: Using the smallest effective machinery, break up pieces of the 
concrete and lift pieces up and away from trees.  Cut roots embedded in paving rather 
than tearing them (see instructions on root cuts).  
 

2) Excavation guidelines for installation of new foundation (Trees #6H and #8H): Use 
hand tools only when excavating within 12 feet of the trunk of redwood trees.  If roots 
of one-inch diameter or larger must be cut, they should be cut cleanly with a sharp, 
clean sawblade perpendicular to the direction of growth (a “square cut”).  The cut 
should be made where the bark of the root is undamaged and intact.  Root pruning 
should be supervised by the Project Arborist. 
 

3) Hardscaping (driveway, parking area and trash receptacle) – Trees #4H and #8H:  
When excavating within 10 feet of Tree #4H and 23 feet of Tree #8H, use hand tools.  
Leave roots encountered unds isturbed if possible.  Excavation depth for installation of 
new landscape materials within the listed distances of trees should be no more than 
four inches (4”) into existing soil grade.  Do not compact native soil under paving 
materials.   No paving materials or any excavation or grading within two feet (2’) of 
trunk.  Root pruning should be supervised by the Project Arborist. 
 

4) Excavation guidelines for installation of fence footings – Trees #4H and #8H: When 
excavating or boring underneath the canopy, or within 10 feet of the trunk of Tree #4H 
and 23 feet of Tree #8H, use hand tools within the top 36” of the soil leaving woody 
roots undamaged.  Under the supervision of the Project Arborist or City Arborist, roots 
encountered should be cut cleanly with a sharp, clean sawblade perpendicular to the 
direction of growth (a “square cut”).  The cut should be made where the bark of the root 
is undamaged and intact.  If roots of over two inches (2”) are found, the Project Arborist 
may recommend moving the location of the footing.   
 

5) Excavation guidelines for installation of underground utility – Tree #4H: Do not trench 
within 10 feet of Tree #4H if possible.  Consider using boring (tunneling) machines set up 

A47



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 15 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

outside the dripline of the tree.  If trenching is necessary, use hand tools or vacuum soil 
extraction in the top 36 inches of soil.  Leave woody roots of one inch or larger 
undamaged with bark intact.  The pipes can then be pushed through the trench or 
tunnel, beneath the roots.  Most roots are found within the top 24 inches of soil. 
 

Root Pruning 

As required by the City of Menlo Park: 
• To avoid injury to tree roots, only excavate carefully by hand, compressed air, or high-

pressure water within the dripline of trees. 
• When the Contractor encounters roots smaller than 2-inches, hand-trim the wall of the 

trench adjacent to the trees to make even, clean cuts through the roots.  Cleanly cut all 
damaged and torn roots to reduce the incidence of decay. 

• Fill trenches within 24 hours.  When it is infeasible to fill trenches within 24 hours, shade 
the side of the trench adjacent to the trees with four layers of dampened, untreated 
burlap.  Wet burlap as frequently as necessary to maintain moisture.   

• When the Contractor encounters roots 2 inches or larger, report immediately to the 
Project Arborist.  The Project Arborist will decide whether the Contractor may cut roots 2 
inches or larger.  If a root is retained, excavate by hand or with compressed air under the 
root.  Protect preserved roots with dampened burlap.  
 

Irrigation 

Water moderately and highly impacted trees during the construction phase.  As a rule of 
thumb, provide one to two inches per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into 
the soil, to the depth of tree roots.  Do not water native oaks during the warm dry season (June 
– September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Instead, make sure that the soil is sufficiently 
insulated with mulch (where possible).  Remember that unsevered tree roots typically extend 
three to five times the distance of the canopy.   

 

 

A48



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 16 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Project Arborist Supervision 

I recommend the Project Arborist meet with the builder on-site:  

• Soon after excavation 
• During any root pruning 
• Monthly tree protection monitoring inspections:  As requested by the property owner 

or builder to document tree condition and verify on-going compliance with tree 
protection plan.  Recommendations for any necessary maintenance and impact 
mitigation should also be included in monthly reports for City Arborist Review (required 
every 4 weeks by the City).   

Any time development-related work is recommended to be supervised by a Project Arborist, 
a follow-up letter shall be provided, documenting the mitigation has been completed to 
specification.  

 

POST-CONSTRUCTION 

Ensure any mitigation measures to ensure long-term survival including but not limited to: 

Continued Tree Care 

Provide adequate and appropriate irrigation.  As a rule of thumb, provide 1- 2 inches of 
water per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into the soil, to the depth of the 
tree roots.  Native oaks usually should not be provided supplemental water during the warm, 
dry season (June – September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Therefore, native oaks should 
only be watered October – May when rain has been scarce.   

Mulch insulates the soil, reduces weeds, reduces compaction, and promotes myriad benefits 
to soil life and tree health.  Apply four inches of wood chips (or other mulch) to the surface of 
the soil around trees, extending at least to the dripline when possible.  Do not pile mulch 
against the trunk. 

Do not fertilize unless a specific nutrient deficiency has been identified and a specific plan 
prescribed by the project arborist (or a consulting arborist). 

A49



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 17 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Post-Construction Monitoring 

Monitor trees for changes in condition.  Check trees at least once per month for the first year 
post-construction.  Expert monitoring should be done at least every 6 months or if trees show 
signs of stress.  Signs of stress include unseasonably sparse canopy, leaf drop, early fall color, 
browning of needles, and shoot die-back.  Stressed trees are also more vulnerable to certain 
disease and pest infestations.  Call the Project Arborist, or a consulting arborist if these, or 
other concerning changes occur in tree health. 

City Arborist Inspection 

A final inspection by the City Arborist is required at the end of the project.  This is to be done 
before Tree Protection Fencing is taken down.  Replacement trees should be planted by this 
time as well. 

 

Conclusion 
  
The home building project planned at 636 Cambridge Ave. appeared to be a valuable upgrade 
to the property.  If any of the property owners, project team, or City reviewers have questions 
on this report, or require Project Arborist supervision or technical support, please do not 
hesitate to contact me at (408) 497-7158 or busara@bofirestone.com. 

 

Signed, 

 

 

Busara (Bo) Firestone | ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B | ASCA Registered 
Consulting Arborist RCA #758 | ISA Qualified Tree Risk Assessor | ASCA Tree and Plant Appraisal 
Qualification | Member – American Society of Consulting Arborists | Wildlife-Trained Arborist 

 

A50

mailto:busara@bofirestone.com


636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 18 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Supporting Information 
 

GLOSSARY 
Terms appear in the order they appear from left to right on the inventory column headings.   

DBH / DSH:  Diameter at 4.5' above grade.   Trees which split into multiple stems at 4.5’ are 
measured at the narrowest point below 4.5’. 

Mathematic DBH / DSH:  diameter of multitrunked tree, mathematically derived from the 
combined area of all trunks. 

SPREAD:  Diameter of canopy between farthest branch tips 

TREE STATUS:  A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  The 
City can classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  However, 
in general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a diameter of 15 
inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, or at the branching 
point for multi-trunk trees).   

CONDITION-Ground based visual assessment of structural and physiological well-being:  

"Excellent" = 81 - 100%; Good health and structure with significant size, location or quality. 

"Good" = 61-80%; Normal vigor, full canopy, no observable significant structural defects, many 
years of service life remaining. 

"Fair" = 41-60%; Reduced vigor, significant structural defect(s), and/or other significant signs of 
stress 

"Poor" = 21- 40%; In potentially irreversible decline, structure and aesthetics severely 
compromised 

"Very Poor" = 6-20%; Nearly dead, or high risk of failure, negative contribution to the landscape  

"Dead/Unstable" = 0 - 5%; No live canopy/buds or failure imminent 

IDEAL TPZ RADIUS:  Recommended tree protection radius to ensure healthy, sound trees. Based on 
species tolerance, age, and size (total combined stem area) as per industry best practice standards. 
Compromising the radius in a specific area may be acceptable as per arborist approval. 

A51



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 19 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

Municipalities in our region simplify this nuanced process by using the distance to the dripline, 10X 
DBH, or 6X DBH as acceptable setbacks from construction. 

AGE:  Relative to tree lifespan; “Young” <1/3; “Mature" 1/3 - 2/3;  "Overmature" >2/3 

IMPACT:  Anticipated impact to an individual tree including…… 

SEVERE - In direct conflict, removal necessary if plans proceed (distance to root cuts/fill 
within 3X DBH or root loss of > 30% anticipated). 

HIGH – Work planned within 6X DBH and/or anticipated root loss of 20% – 30%.  Redesign 
to reduce impact should be explored and may be required by municipal reviewer.  
Retainment may be possible with monitoring or alternative building methods.  Health and 
structure may worsen even if conditions for retainment are met.  

MODERATE - Ideal TPZ encroached upon in limited areas.  No work or very limited work 
within 6X TPZ.  Anticipated root loss of 10% - 25%.  Special building guidelines may be 
provided by Project Arborist.  Although some symptoms of stress are possible, tree is not 
likely to decline due to construction related activities.  

LOW - Anticipated root loss of less than 10%.  Minor or no encroachment on ideal TPZ.  
Longevity uncompromised with standard protection. 

VERY LOW - Ideal TPZ well exceeded.  Potential impact only by ingress/egress.  Anticipated 
root loss of 0% - 5%.  Longevity uncompromised. 

NONE - No anticipated impact to roots, soil environment, or above-ground parts. 

TOLERANCE:  General species tolerance to construction (HIGH, MODERATE, or LOW) as given in 
Managing Trees During Construction, Second Edition, by International Society of Arboriculture   

SUITABILITY ASSESSMENT:  An individual tree's suitability for preservation considering impacts, 
condition, maturity, species tolerance, site characteristics, and species desirability. (HIGH, 
MODERATE, or LOW) 

APPRAISAL RESULT:  The reproduction cost of tree replacement as calculated by the Trunk Formula 
Technique.  

 

A52



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 20 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 

Fite, Kelby, and E. Thomas Smiley.  Managing trees during construction, second edition. 

 Champaign, IL:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2016.  Print. 

 

ISA.  Guide for Plant Appraisal, 10th edition, second printing.  Atlanta, GA: International Society 
of Arboriculture, 2019.  Print. 

 

ISA. Species Classification and Group Assignment, 2004 Western Chapter Regional Supplement. 

 Western Chapter ISA. 

 

Smiley, E. Thomas, Nelda Matheny, and Sharon Lilly.  Best Management Practices:  Tree Risk  

Assessment:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2011.  Print. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A53



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 21 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

PHOTOS (A – D) 
Taken 10/19/25 by B. Firestone 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PHOTO A – exploratory trenching 
adjacent to Tree 6H (neighboring 
redwood).   

A54



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 22 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PHOTO B – exploratory trenching 
adjacent to Tree 6H (neighboring 
redwood).   

A55



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 23 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PHOTO C – exploratory trenching 
adjacent to Tree 6H (neighboring 
redwood).   

A56



636 Cambridge Ave. • Das Residence • rev. 11/21/25 

ARBORIST REPORT 

Page 24 of 29 
 

 

PREPARED BY:  BO FIRESTONE, ISA BOARD CERTIFIED MASTER ARBORIST #WE-8525B 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS    |    WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM    |    BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM 

 PHOTO D – exploratory trenching 
adjacent to redwood 8H.  (1) 
burl/old stump and (1) 4-inch root 
to be removed and should not 
significantly impact tree health. 
More roots may be exposed when 
actual digging occurs for 12” slab, 
however, I would not anticipate 
finding more than perhaps one or 
two additional four inch roots, 
based on these findings.   

A57



pg. 25 

BO FIRESTONE TREES & GARDENS 

2150 LACEY DR., MILPITAS, CA 95035 

E:  BUSARA@BOFIRESTONE.COM  C: (408) 497-7158 

WWW.BOFIRESTONE.COM 

  BUSARA FIRESTONE    KAITLYN MEYER     ON STAFF 
 #WE-8525B               #WE-14992A 

CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL 

I, Busara Rea Firestone, CERTIFY to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

1. That the statements of fact contained in this plant appraisal are true and correct.

2. That the appraisal analysis, opinions, and conclusion are limited only by the reported assumption

and limiting conditions, and that they are my personal, unbiased professional analysis, opinions, and

conclusions.

3. That I have no present or prospective interest in the plants that are the subject of this appraisal, and

that I have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved.

4. That my compensation is not contingent upon a predetermined value or direction in value that

favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a stipulated

result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event.

5. That my analysis, opinions, and conclusions are developed, and this appraisal has been prepared, in

conformity with the Guide for Plant Appraisal (10th edition, 2000) authored by the Council of Tree

and Landscape Appraisers.

6. That the methods found in this appraisal are based on a request to determine the value of the plants

considering reasonable factors of plant appraisal.

7. That my appraisal is based on the information known to me at this time.  If more information is

disclosed, I may have further opinions.

Signed, 

Busara (Bo) Firestone 

ISA Board-Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B 

11/21/2025 

A58



WARNING TREE PROTECTION AREA 

ONLY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL MAY ENTER THIS AREA 

No excavation, trenching, material storage, cleaning, equipment access, or dumping is allowed 
behind this fence.  

Do not remove or relocate this fence without approval from the project arborist. This fencing 
must remain in its approved location throughout demolition and construction.  

Project Arborist contact information: 
Name: 
Business: 
Phone number: 

Bo Firestone
Bo Firestone Trees & Gardens

408-497-7158

pg. 26



ADVERTENCIA: ÁREA DE PROTECCIÓN DE ÁRBOLES 

SÓLO EL PERSONAL AUTORIZADO PUEDE INGRESAR A ESTA ÁREA 

No se permite la excavación, zanjas, almacenamiento de materiales, limpieza, acceso de 
equipos, o vertido de residuos detrás de esta cerca.  

No retire ni reubique esta cerca sin la aprobación del arborista del proyecto. Esta cerca debe 
permanecer en su ubicación aprobada durante todo el proceso de demolición y construcción.  

Información de contacto del arborista de este proyecto: 

Nombre: 
Empresa: 
Número de teléfono: 

Bo Firestone
Bo Firestone Trees & Gardens

408-497-7158

pg. 27



pg. 28

Das Residence Inventory rev. 11/21/25

#
Heritage 

(H)
Common Name Botanical Name

Protected 
Status

DBH
(inches)

 math. 
DBH

(inches)

Height 
(feet)

Spread
(feet)

Condition
Health, Structure, Form 

notes
Age

Species 
Tolerance

6X DBH*
(feet)

Est. Root 
Loss**

TPZ mult. 
Factor

Ideal TPZ 
Radius (ft) 

Impact 
Level  ***

Suitability
Rating

Removal Status
Appraisal 

Result

1 Orange Citrus x sinensis (not heritage) 8.5 8.5 15 12 GOOD (75%)
full green canopy, 

pleasing form, good 
vigor

MATURE MODERATE 4 > 10% 12 9 LOW HIGH PRESERVE $2,990

2 Orange Citrus x sinensis (not heritage) (3) 4 7 12 12 GOOD (75%)
full green canopy, 

pleasing form, good 
vigor

MATURE MODERATE 4 100% 12 7 SEVERE LOW REMOVE (X) $2,030

3 H Glossy Privet Ligustrum lucidum HERITAGE est. 16 16 35 25 FAIR (50%) codominant form, 15% 
canopy dieback

MATURE LOW 8 10% - 25% 15 20 HIGH LOW REMOVE (X)**** $1,390

4 H Loquat Eriobotrya japonica HERITAGE (4) 9 18 30 30 GOOD (75%)
full green canopy, 

pleasing form, good 
vigor

MATURE MODERATE 9 10% - 25% 12 18 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $11,500

5 H Chinese Pistache Pistacia chinensis HERITAGE 19.5 19.5 45 40 GOOD (75%)
full green canopy, 

pleasing form, good 
vigor

MATURE MODERATE 10 100% 12 20 SEVERE MODERATE REMOVE (X) $15,700

6 H Coast Redwood Sequoia sempervirens HERITAGE est. 40 40 90 25 EXCELLENT (90%)

good health and 
structure with 

significant size, location, 
and quality

MATURE HIGH 20 10% - 25% 8 27 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $40,200

7 Glossy Privet Ligustrum lucidum (not heritage) 10.5, 9.5 14 30 20 FAIR (50%) low vigor understory 
tree, asymmetrical form

MATURE LOW 7 > 30% 15 18 SEVERE LOW REMOVE (X) $1,060

8 H Coast Redwood Sequoia sempervirens HERITAGE est. 46 46 100 40 GOOD (75%)

some symptoms of 
drought stress but 

otherwise full green 
canopy

MATURE HIGH 23 10% - 25% 8 31 MODERATE HIGH PRESERVE $39,400

9 H Glossy Privet Ligustrum lucidum HERITAGE (2) 14 20 40 30 FAIR (50%)

codominant 
asymmetrical form with 

narrow angle of 
attachment, moderate 

vigor

MATURE LOW 10 20% - 30% 15 25 HIGH LOW REMOVE (X) $2,170

KEY:

# Neighboring / City Street Tree

Removal Request

SEE GLOSSARY FOR DEFINITION OF TERMS

Appraisal calculations summary available upon request.

TREE INVENTORY - 636 Cambridge Ave., Menlo Park, CA, 94025                     

TREE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

* 6X DBH is recongnized by tree care industry best practices as the distance from trunkface to a cut across 
the root plate that would result in a loss of approximately 25% of the root mass.  Cuts closer than this may 
result in tree decline or instability. 
**Based on approximate distance to excavation and extent of excavation (as shown on plans). 
***Impact level assumming all basic and special tree protection measures are followed.
****NEIGHBOR'S PERMISSION AND CITY APPROVAL REQUIRED FOR REMOVAL OF TREE #3H.

Prepared by Busara Firestone
ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B

RCA #758



R

O

T

R

O

T

FRONT HOME
DRIVEWAY

REAR PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

R
IG

H
T

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 1

22
.3

7'
FRONT PROPERTY LINE 60.0'

LE
F

T
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

 1
22

.3
1'

636 CAMBRIDGE AVE

REAR HOME
DRIVEWAY

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE

R
E

F
U

S
E

 R
E

C
E

P
T

A
C

LE
S

E
T

O
U

T

EXTERIOR
HVAC

7'-3"

17
'-0

"

20
'-1

"

6'-1"

FIRST
FLOOR

SECOND
FLOOR

23
'-0

"

17'-8"

9'-9"

39
'-0

"

1-CAR
GARAGE
-FRONT

HOME
COVERED
PARKING

MAIN HOUSE
PORCH

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

ADU
LANDING
4'-4"X3'-6"

(N) EM
400
AMP

44" REDWOOD
TREE TO
REMAIN

22
'-5

"

4'-9"

4'
-1

"

12'-0" 2'-0" 10'-0"

The HVAC
units will

comply with
the noise

ordinance
limitations of

60 dBA during
the day and 50

dBA at night
measured at
the nearest

property line.

1-CAR
GARAGE

-REAR
HOME

COVERED
PARKING

24'-0"

(N) EM
400

AMP

PARKING
REAR
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED
PARKING
FRONT
HOME

18'6" X8'6"

UNCOVERED

7' HIGH FENCE , COVERED WITH ARTIFICIAL
GREEN HEDGE

 EXTERIOR BIFOLD PARKING  DOOR
UPTO 7' HIGH

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

14'-0"
The HVAC

units will
comply with

the noise
ordinance

limitations of
60 dBA during

the day and 50
dBA at night
measured at
the nearest

property line.

CONCRETE
PAD FOR

HVAC

SECOND
FLOOR

FIRST
FLOOR

(E
)

S
P

E
E

D
 B

U
M

P

STACKED
EXTERIOR

HVAC

(N
)

S
P

E
E

D
 B

U
M

P

OPTIONAL / DISCRETIONARY :
(E) SPEED BUMP TO BE

REPLACED WITH
(N) SPEED BUMP

EXACT LOCATION TO BE
DETERMINED IN THE FIELD

(E) CURB TO
REMAIN

LANDING
4'-6"X3'-6"

20
'-0

"

(1) “All existing cracked or damaged features along the property frontage must be
repaired in kind.  All frontage improvement work shall be in accordance with the
latest version of the City Standard Details.”

(2) “Any frontage improvements which are damaged as a result of construction will be
required to be replaced.”

(3) “An encroachment permit from the Engineering Division is required prior to any
construction activities in the public right of way.”

(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH  > 10' AWAY FROM
LEFT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

(E
)R

IG
H

T
  F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

(N
)L

E
F

T
 7

' T
A

LL
 F

E
N

C
E

(E)REAR FENCE TO REMAIN

SINGLE NEW DRIVEWAY APPROACH
(ONE CURB CUT)

12'-4"

UTILITIES & ENCROACHMENT PERMIT
1.ALL WET & DRY UTILITIES WILL BE ADDRESSED AS A PART OF
SEPARATE TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP SUBMISSION.
2.ANY WORK BEYOND PROPERTY LINE WILL BE ADDRESSED AS
A PART OF SEPARATE ENCROACHMENT PERMIT SUBMISSION.

(N) DRIVEWAY APPROACH  > 10' AWAY FROM
RIGHT NEIGHBORS DRIVEWAY APPROACH

	 	

DATE:  
rev. 11/21/25

TPZ ELEMENTS DRAWN: 
 B. FIRESTONE

ISA BOARD CERTIFIED
MASTER ARBORIST 

#WE-8525B

BASE MAP:  SITE PLAN A1.2
by AIASSA DESIGNERS

(11/07/2025)

ARBORIST REPORT 
pg. 29

TR
E
E
 P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 Z

O
N

E
 M

A
P

6
3
6

 C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E
 A

V
E
, M

E
N

LO
 P

A
R

K
, C

A

   7

TPZ NOTE:  EXISTING 6’ WOOD FENCE AT PROPERTY LINE 
TO SERVE AS PROTECTION FOR TREE #6H.  

TPZ MAP LEGEND:

TREE TO REMAIN 

TREE ON NEIGHBORS’  PROPERTY / 
CITY STREET TREE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING (SEE SPEC.)

   n TREE TO REMOVE

 n

   n

ROOT PROTECTION MEASURES

(PRESCRIBED PER REPORT PG. 12)

Tree protection fencing requirements as required by the City of Menlo Park:

1)	 Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing mounted on 
eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into the ground and spaced no 
more than 10 feet apart. 

2)	 Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored paper (signage 
attached) with Project Arborist’s contact information.  Signage should be on each protection fence in a 
prominent location.

3)	 Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for fixed 
fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to be moved to ac-
commodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move the fence without authorization 
from the Project Arborist or City Arborist.

4) Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative 
within the TPZ over bare ground prior to construction activity.

   2

 5H

 9H

6H

   4H

8H

    1

 3H



PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 636 
Cambridge Ave 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2025-00041 

APPLICANT: Angan 
Das 

OWNER: Angan Das 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the 
date of approval (by February 23, 2027) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans 
prepared by T4 Homes consisting of 23 plan sheets, dated received February 3, 2026, 
and approved by the Planning Commission on February 23, 2026, except as modified 
by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning 
Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District, 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly 
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the 
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly 
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility 
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and 
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that 
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan 
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers, 
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged 
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted 
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering 
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of 
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to 
the Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by Bo Firestone Trees & 
Gardens, dated November 21, 2025.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff 
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo 
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding 
against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, 
void, or annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community 
Development Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City 
concerning a development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is 
brought within the time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however, 
that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall 
be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim, 
action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s 
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

EXHIBIT D

A63



PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 636 
Cambridge Ave 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2025-00041 

APPLICANT: Angan 
Das 

OWNER: Angan Das 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations,
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application.

2. The use permit shall be subject to the following project-specific conditions:

a. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall pay the in-lieu fee of
$18,460 for development-related heritage tree removals as outlined and approved in 
heritage tree removal permit HTR2025-00163.

A64



City of Menlo Park

636 Cambridge Avenue
Location Map

Date: 2/23/2026 Drawn By:4,000 BJT Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



636 Cambridge – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 7,340.0 sf 7,340.0 sf 7,000.0 sf min. 
Lot width 60.0 ft. 60.0 ft. 65.0 ft. min. 
Lot depth 122.31 ft. 122.31 ft. 100.0 ft. min. 

Setbacks 
Front 20.1 

23.0 

76.3 

76.3 

ft. (Front Main 
House) 
ft. (Front ADU) 

ft. (Rear Main 
House) 
ft. (Rear ADU) 

24.2 ft. 20.0 ft. min. 

Rear 68.9 

68.9 

20.0 

4.1 

ft. (Front Main 
House) 
ft. (Front ADU) 

ft. (Rear Main 
House) 
ft. (Rear ADU) 

44.8 ft. 20.0 
4.0 

ft. min. 
ft. min. 

Side (left) 14.0 

17.7 

12.3 

7.3 

ft. (Front Main 
House) 
ft. (Front ADU) 

ft. (Rear Main 
House) 
ft. (Rear ADU) 

14.3 ft. 6.0 
4.0 

ft. min. 
ft. min. 

Side (right) 6.1 

9.8 

9.8 

5.3 

ft. (Front Main 
House) 
ft. (Front ADU) 

ft. (Rear Main 
House) 
ft. (Rear ADU) 

13.8 ft. 6.0 
4.0 

ft. min. 
ft. min. 

Building coverage 2,683.0 
36.6 

sf* 
% 

1,652.0 
22.5 

sf 
% 

2,569.0 
35.0 

sf max. 
% max. 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 4,315.0 
58.8 

sf* 
% 

1,652.0 
22.5 

sf 
% 

2,936.0 
40.0 

sf max. 
% max. 

Landscaping 2,483.0 
33.8 

sf** 
% 

3,492.0 
47.6 

sf 
% 

2,936.0 
40.0 

sf min. 
% min. 

Square footage by floor 857.0 

304.0 

150.0 
935.0 
834.0 
798.0 

215.0 

222.0 

sf/1st front main 
home 
sf/1st rear main 
home 
sf/1st front ADU 
sf/1st rear ADU 
sf/2nd front ADU 
sf/2nd rear main 
home 
sf/garage front 
home 
sf/garage rear 
home 

1,220.0 

432.0 

sf/1st 

sf/carport 

Square footage of 
buildings 

4,315.0 sf 1,652.0 sf 

Building height 27.2 
26.0 

ft. (front home) 
ft. (rear home 

15 ft. 28.0 ft. max. 

Parking 1 covered/1 uncovered (front 
home) 

1 covered/1 uncovered (rear 
home) 

1 covered 1 covered/1 uncovered per 
unit 

ATTACHMENT C

C1



636 Cambridge – Attachment C: Data Table 

Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation. 

Trees Heritage trees 6*** Non-Heritage trees 3 New Trees 4 
Heritage trees proposed 
for removal 

3 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

2 Total Number of 
Trees 

8**** 

* Includes the two attached ADUs, each of which is permitted to exceed the FAL.
**Excludes the area exempt from landscaping requirements for the attached ADU of the
rear home and each ADU porch.
*** The six heritage trees comprise four on-site trees, one tree on the neighboring
property at 628 Cambridge Ave. near the property line, and one tree on the neighboring
property at 660/662 Cambridge Ave. near the property line.
****This number includes the four 15-gallon Bay Laurels to be planted after construction.

C2


	20260223 PC Agenda
	E1_20251215 PC Draft Minutes
	E2_20260112 Draft Minutes
	F1_636 Cambridge Ave staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table


